




CHAIRMAN OF THE ZAMBIA REVENUE AUTHORITY GOVERNING BOARD

Honourable Alexander B. Chikwanda, MP
Minister of Finance 
Ministry of Finance 
P. O. Box 50062
LUSAKA

Dear Honourable Minister,

thI have the honour of presenting to you, on behalf of the Governing Board, the 19 Annual Report of the Zambia Revenue 
st stAuthority, covering the financial year 1  January 2013 to 31  December 2013.

This report has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Zambia Revenue Authority Act, Chapter 321 
of the Laws of Zambia.

Yours faithfully,

Charles L. Mutemwa
Chairman of the Governing Board
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Vision

“To be a world class organisation recognised as a beacon of excellence in revenue administration.”

Mission Statement

“To optimise and sustain revenue collection through integrated, efficient,
cost effective and transparent systems professionally managed to meet the

expectations of all stakeholders.”
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Glossary 
ACC Anti-Corruption Commission 
ASYCUDA Automated System for Customs Data 
BCP 
CIP 

Business Continuity Plan 
Customs Import Permit 

COMESA Common Market for Eastern and Southern Africa 
CSART Contributory Scheme for Anti-Retroviral Therapy 
CSO Central Statistical Office 
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DEC Drug Enforcement Commission 
DFID Department for International Development (UK) 
DOMT 
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GDP Gross Domestic Product 
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ICF Investment Climate Facility 
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IGC International Growth Centre 
IMF International Monetary Fund 
ITAS 
ISIC 

Integrated Tax Administration System  
International Standards of Industrial Classification 

LTO Large Taxpayer Office  
MCU Mobile Compliance Unit 
MoF Ministry of Finance  
NTA Norwegian Tax Agency  
OECD Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development 
OSBP One-Stop Border Post 
PACRA Patents and Companies Registration Agency 
PEE Prevention, Education and Enforcement 
PEMFA 
PFMRP 

Public Expenditure Management and Financial Accountability 
Public Financial Management Reform Programme 

PMDC Performance Management and Development Contract 
SADC Southern Africa Development Community 
SAP 
SME 

Systems Applications Products 
Small and Medium Taxpayers  

SMTO 
UNCTAD 

Small and Medium Taxpayer Office  
United Nations Conference on Trade and Development 

VSAT Very Small Aperture Terminal  
WCO World Customs Organisation 
WTO World Trade Organisation 
ZRA Zambia Revenue Authority 
ZRAIC ZRA Integrity Committee 
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The Zambia Revenue Authority (ZRA) was established 
ston 1  April 1994 as a corporate body, under the Zambia 

Revenue Authority Act, Chapter 321 of the Laws of 
Zambia enacted in 1993. Pursuant to this Act, the 
Authority is charged with the responsibility of collecting 
revenue on behalf of the Government of the Republic of 
Zambia under the supervision of the Minister of Finance.

The operations of ZRA are overseen by the Governing 
Board. The membership of this Board as provided for in 
the Act includes: the Secretary to the Treasury; the 
Permanent Secretary - Ministry of Justice; the Governor 
of the Bank of Zambia; representatives from the Law 
Association of Zambia; the Zambia Association of 
Chambers of Commerce and Industry; the Bankers' 
Association of Zambia; the Zambia Institute of Chartered 
Accountants; and two other members appointed by the 
Minister of Finance. The Chairman of the Board is elected 
from amongst its members. 

The Chief Executive Officer of the ZRA is the 
Commissioner General who is appointed by the 
President of the Republic of Zambia.

Responsibilities

The main responsibilities of the Authority are to: 

·properly assess and collect the following taxes, 
duties, levies and fees at the right time:

§Income Taxes;

§Value Added Tax;

§Excise Duties;

§Customs and Export Duties;

§Mineral Royalty;

§Property Transfer Tax; 

§Motor Vehicle Fee; 

§Medical Levy; and

§Carbon Emissions Surtax.

·ensure that all monies collected are properly 
accounted for and banked;

·properly enforce all relevant legislation and 
administrative provisions;

·provide revenue and trade statistics to the 
Government;

·give advice on tax policy to Government; and  

·facilitate international trade.

Stakeholders

The stakeholders in the operations of the Authority 
include:

·the Zambian people; 

·the Zambian business community and those 
groups which represent their interests, together 
with their professional advisors;

·banks and other financial institutions;

·taxpayers;

·members of COMESA, SADC, WTO and other 
countries transacting business with Zambia, or 
transiting goods through Zambia;

·tourists, travellers and traders crossing Zambia's 
borders;

·the donor community and multilateral agencies, 
e.g. IMF, World Bank, DFID;

·the Governing Board, Management and Staff of 
the Authority;  

·the mass media in general; and

·Non-Governmental Organisations and other 
interest groups.

Corporate Profile 
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Governing Board

Mr. Charles L. Mutemwa 
Chairperson 

Dr. Michael Gondwe 
Member
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thI am delighted to present the 19  Annual Report of the 
Zambia Revenue Authority (ZRA) for the financial year 

stending 31  December 2013.

The performance of the ZRA during the year under review 
was generally satisfactory although the revenue 
collections of K23, 190.8 million were below the 
parliament target of K23, 565.5 million by K374.7 million 
or 1.6 percent. In terms of revenue to GDP ratio, the 
outturn declined from 18.7 percent in 2012 to 18.4 
percent. The decline is mainly attributed to the 
underperformance of the mining industry tax contribution. 

To address the challenges of the taxation of the mining 
sector, the Government appointed a team of mining 
consultants to determine an effective mineral value chain 
monitoring mechanism from exploration to exportation. It 
is hoped that with the new monitoring system in place, 
higher tax revenues will be collected from the mining 
companies.

The Economy

In 2013, the global economy continued to slowly recover 
with growth of about 2.9 percent. 

Commodity prices for 2013 were lower than those for 
2012 due to the sluggish growth in the world economy. 
Copper prices which averaged of US$7,948.9 per metric 
tonne in 2012, declined to US$7,325 in 2013. 

Zambia's GDP growth declined from 7.3 percent in 2012 
to 6.5 percent in 2013. This decline is mainly attributed to 
the underperformance of the Agriculture and 
Manufacturing sectors.

The average inflation rate for the year 2013 at 7.0 percent 
was lower than 7.3 percent  recorded in 2012. The 
reduction in the rate of inflation is mainly attributed to the 
tight monetary policy the Bank of Zambia pursued, which 
included the raising of the Policy Rate from 9.25 percent 
to 9.75 percent. This reduction was achieved despite 
inflationary pressures exerted by the removal of fuel and 
maize subsidies. The average commercial bank lending 
rates remained relatively stable.

The average exchange rate for the Kwacha against the 
US Dollar in 2013 was K5.39 compared to K5.21 in 2012. 
The depreciation of the Kwacha during the year was 
mainly attributed to supply side factors such as the 
declining copper prices and risk aversion behavior by 
some key players in the foreign exchange market. 

During the period under review, the Government 
undertook the following measures:
a) issued Statutory Instrument Number 55 of 2013 on 

the Balance of Payments; 

b) the Cheque Truncation System became operational 
on 1st February 2013 in order to shorten and 
standardise cheque clearing across the country;

 

 

c) re-based the Zambian Kwacha and successfully 
stintroduced a new currency with effect from 1  

January 2013; 

d) approved the issuance of Kwacha denominated 
bonds by the International Finance Corporation and 
the African Development Bank.

Operations

Modernisation reforms undertaken during the year 
included the implementation of TaxOnline and 
ASYCUDAWorld. These new systems with robust e-
functionalities replaced the Integrated Tax Administration 
System (ITAS) and ASYCUDA++. It is expected that 
these new systems will increase efficiency and reduce the 
cost of compliance. 

The Authority continued to make strides in addressing 
some of the major challenges which are undermining the 
performance of some tax types such as Domestic VAT by 
strictly enforcing existing administrative provisions. The 
Authority also continued to identify weaknesses in tax 
legislation and made appropriate recommendations to 

Chairman's Statement
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the Tax Policy Review Committee of the Ministry of 
Finance.

General administration

During the year under review, the Governing Board 
approved the following: 

·the Change Management Strategy;

·the Business Continuity Management Policy and 
Minimum Standards;

·the Taxpayer Education Policy; 

·the opening of the ZRA offices in Choma and Chinsali 
Districts; 

·the 2014 Budget and the Audited Financial 
Statements of the Authority for 2012;

·management paper on the Joint Negotiating Council 
(JNC) and approved the revision of conditions of 
service of non-unionised staff;

· the ZRA Annual Report for the year 2012;

·the engagement of a Consultant to review the 
Administration Manual for non-represented staff; and

·the sale of the old freight terminal at Chirundu Border 
Post  to  Chirundu District Council.

In addition,  the members of the Governing Board 
undertook study tours to the Kenya Revenue Authority 
and the Zimbabwe Revenue Authority to learn best 
practice.

In order to continue improving the quality of service to its 
clients, the Authority placed human resource 
development high on its agenda. In this regard, the 
Authority's employees were exposed to a total of 1,632 
training programmes in various fields compared to 1,539 
in 2012.

The ZRA staff complement increased from 1, 355 as at 
the end of 2012 to 1, 450 as at December 2013, 
representing an increase of seven percent. 

With regard to terms and conditions of service, 
Management engaged an external consultant to 
benchmark conditions of service in ZRA with comparator 
institutions. 

I wish to express my profound gratitude to the Hon. 
Minister of Finance and his staff for their support to the 
Authority during the year under review.

5

I would like to thank my colleagues on the Governing 
Board for providing an effective oversight on the 
management of the Authority during the year under 
review.  

I commend Management and staff for discharging their 
duties and responsibilities to the best of their abilities. 

To all our compliant taxpayers, a big thank you. 

Charles L. Mutemwa
Chairman of the ZRA Governing Board 
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Commissioner General's Report 

his Report reviews the performance of tax revenue 
and the operations of the Authority in general and Tpresents the attendant audited financial 

statements.

The year 2013 presented various challenges and 
opportunities for the Authority. Revenue collection 
amounted to 98.4 percent of the Parliamentary set target 
of K23, 565.5 million. The underperformance of mining 
company tax was mainly responsible for the overall 
deficit. The revision of provisional tax estimates by a 
major mining company following the announcement in 
the 2013 National Budget of the change in the treatment 
of capital allowances for the mining sector resulted in the 
downward adjustment of taxes paid. This led to a revision 
of the target to a 2013 baseline target of K22, 860.2 
million. Thus, revenue collections of K23, 190.8 million 
against this revised baseline target of K22, 860.2 million 
registered a surplus of K330.7.million or 1.4 percent. 
According to the revised GDP figures from the Central 
Statistical Office, the tax revenue to GDP ratio which 
stood at 19.5 percent in 2012 declined to 18.4 percent in 
2013. The Central Statistical Office revised the GDP 
estimates for 2013 upwards to K125, 946.9 million from 
K121, 275.2 million and that for 2012 was revised 
downwards to K106, 015.2 million from K111, 049.4 
million. 

Our operations during the year were guided by the 2013-
2015 Corporate Strategic Plan (CSP). The CSP enables 
the Authority to prioritise its actions in accordance with 
Government policy and the resources at its disposal. 

At the year-end, work on all planned actions for the year 
had commenced. Specifically, 26.1 percent of all the 
planned Corporate Actions were reported to be fully 
implemented while 73.9 percent were reported to be 
partially implemented.

Our modernisation reforms gained momentum during the 
year as the Authority, in October 2013, successfully 
introduced TaxOnline which is a robust web-based 
domestic tax administration platform with e-
functionalities that enable clients to deal with the 
Authority on a 24 hour basis. This new business 
development entailed improved efficiencies in 
registration and return filing. I must hasten to mention 
here that the implementation of TaxOnline had a positive 
effect of reducing the level of VAT refunds in the last two 
months of the year.

Similarly, in its quest to enhance international trade 
facilitation, in November 2013, the Authority commenced 
the roll-out of ASYCUDAWorld, another web-based 
customs transaction platform that enables paperless e-
commerce through electronic declaration and 
submission of supporting documents to the Authority, on 
a 24 hour basis. 

The Authority also continued to prioritise trade facilitation, 
through the improvement of border infrastructure and 
simplification of clearance processes, in conjunction with 
other Government agencies.  Improvement of taxpayer 
services and continuous taxpayer education remained 
important tools for enhancing voluntary compliance 
especially among small and medium taxpayers.  

I am optimistic that once the two systems are integrated it 
will further streamline exchange of information and 
improve overall collaboration and data mining capabilities 
with regard to client tax information for both customs and 
domestic taxes. However, poor connectivi ty 
compromised the operation of the systems. As at the end 
of the year, this problem was receiving attention by 
engaging system consultants and internet service 
providers. 

With regard to infrastructure development, the Authority 
acquired Mpendwa House, in Ndola, at a cost of K17.1 
million. Other projects undertaken, or commenced, 
include the on-going construction of offices at Nakonde 
Border Post; staff houses at Kazungula and Mokambo 
Border Posts; a scanning yard and access road at Kapiri 
Mposhi and Kasumbalesa Border Posts respectively. 
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To ensure uninterrupted operations at all times, the 
Business Continuity Plan (BCP) Policy was approved 
with a view to providing effective recovery sites for the 
Authority's operations in the  event of a disaster. 

The Block Management System (BMS) Pilot Project, 
aimed at enhancing taxation of the informal sector was 
fully implemented in 2013. The lessons learnt from the 
implementation of the Pilot Project are expected to be 
used to further enhance operational efficiency.

In order to enhance transparency and optimise revenue 
collection in the mining sector, the Authority 
commissioned the Mineral Value Chain Monitoring 
Project for the monitoring of Zambia's mineral exports. 
The mechanism once fully in place will help ensure that 
the mining sector pays its fair share of taxes through 
accurate reporting on the  quality and quantity of 
minerals produced and exported.

Enhancing tax compliance through tax education was 
also high on our agenda and to this end, several tax 
education programmes were aired both on national and 
community radio stations. Furthermore, we continued to 
monitor our service delivery standards on a quarterly 
basis through the Taxpayer Charter, which sets out the 
service delivery standards that taxpayers should expect, 
as they interact with the Authority. While the Authority's 
performance against the set standards was generally 
satisfactory, Management is fully aware of the challenges 
inherent in our tax refund system and has continued to 
seek lasting solutions to make processes more efficient 
and predictable in order to improve service standards 
related to the processing of tax refunds. 

Notwithstanding our successes, we still have several 
challenges to overcome. We shall therefore strive to 
ensure that we deliver on our mandate by ensuring that 
we continue to collect optimal revenues to support the 
Government's development agenda in line with our 
corporate objective of optimising revenue collection.

In conclusion, I would like to take this opportunity to thank 
the Governing Board, members of staff, compliant 
taxpayers and all other stakeholders who made our work 
easier through their valuable co-operation and input.

Berlin Msiska
Commissioner General
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Values 
Our commitment to serving Government, taxpayers, employees and other stakeholders is 
reflected in our Corporate Values: 

Integrity : exhibiting the highest standards of personal probity and behaviour; 

Professionalism: performing official duties with skill, care and diligence; and providing 
the public with service and advice in a professional manner;

 

Fairness : performing official duties in an impartial manner free of political, 
personal or other biases; 

Equity : treating all taxpayers, colleagues and members of the public equitably 
in accordance with the provisions of legislation and procedures in 
force; 

Courtesy : treating all taxpayers, colleagues and members of the public with 
courtesy and being sensitive to their rights, duties and aspirations;

 

Teamwork : working as a team, not only to reinforce each others' divisional 
functions, but also at a collegiate level in order to strengthen mutual 
confidence, respect and trust; 

Value for Money: avoiding wastage and extravagant use of resources; 

Confidentiality :  upholding the highest level of secrecy in respect of information that 
comes to one's knowledge in the course of duty; 

Goal orientation: focusing on the development and achievement of personal and 
organisational goals in the course of duty; 

Innovation : consistently improving on quality, quantity, timeliness and cost.





The overview of the Authority covers its Corporate 
Strategic Plan (CSP), administration and the Taxpayer 
Charter.

Corporate Strategic Plan

The Authority's operations in 2013 were guided by its CSP 
which covers the period 2013-2015. The content of the  
2013-2015 CSP is derived from the Authority's mandate to 
support the goals and objectives of the Government of the 
Republic of Zambia, as outlined in the Sixth National 
Development Plan (SNDP), Vision 2030, Medium Term 
Expenditure Framework (MTEF), Zambia Revenue 
Authority Act , Chapter 321 of the Laws of Zambia and the 
general policy direction of the Government.

The  2013-2015 CSP contains the following four Strategic 
Objectives: 

1. to optimise revenue collection; 
2. to improve operational efficiency and service 

delivery;
3. to enhance the professionalism and productivity of 

the workforce; and
4. to develop and improve infrastructure.

The implementation of these Strategic Objectives is 
achieved through more specific Corporate Actions.  The 
implementation progress of each of these actions is 
measured through one or more Key Performance 
Indicators. 

During the year under review, the Authority commenced the 
implementation of the CSP and managed to fully implement 
26.1 percent of the planned corporate actions while the rest 
or 73.9 percent of the actions were partially implemented.

Administration of the Authority 

The Authority has in place a Governing Board that 
exercises oversight on its overall organisation and 

administration. The Governing Board carries out its work 
through the following Committees: 

Audit Committee 

This Committee mainly reviews the Authority's systems of 
internal controls regarding finance, accounting, legal 
compliance and ethics, risk management and business 
continuity planning that management and the Board have 
established. This Committee also oversees the Authority's 
auditing, accounting and financial reporting processes. 

Finance Committee 

This Committee mainly considers the Financial Statements 
and Revenue Collection Reports of the Authority.  

Legal, Staff and Disciplinary Committee

This Committee mainly considers legal matters, the 
recruitment of staff, the establishment of the Authority, the 
review of policies; management appraisal systems and the 
revision of conditions of service  for staff.

Customs Clearing and Forwarding Licensing Committee 

The Customs Clearing and Forwarding Licensing 
Committee has authority to consider and approve 
applications for licences made by Customs Clearing and 
Forwarding Agents. The Committee is therefore 
responsible for the issuance of new licences as well as 
renewal of these licences. 

The Chief Executive Officer of the Authority is the 
Commissioner General, who is appointed by the President 
of the Republic of Zambia and is responsible for the day to 
day running of the Authority's business,  under the direction 
of the Governing Board. In executing his mandate, the 
Commissioner General is assisted by the Senior 
Management Members (SMM) as indicated in Figure 1 
below.

Figure 1: Organogram of Zambia Revenue Authority
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Taxpayer Charter 

The Taxpayer Charter sets out minimum standards of 
service that clients should expect from the Authority as it 
discharges its core business of optimising revenue 
collection. The Taxpayer Charter therefore remains an 
important tool in the monitoring of our service delivery 
against the minimum standards. Broadly, the service 
standards outlined in the Taxpayer Charter can be 
divided into two categories: standards related to the 
processing of tax refunds and those related to tax 
registration and advisory services.

During the year under review, the Authority performed 
favourably with respect to income tax refunds, based on 
their average processing time. However, the Authority 
encountered challenges under customs deposit refunds, 
customs refunds and VAT refunds. It should be noted that 
a significant proportion of the refund claims had queries 
and incomplete information resulting in delays in 
processing. Compared to 2012, an improvement was 
recorded in customs refunds, while the average 
processing time for income tax refunds remained 
unchanged. However, customs deposit refunds recorded 
an increase in the average processing time in 
comparison to 2012 (see Figure 2).

Figure 2: Efficiency of tax refunds processing system 
(average number of days) in 2013 and 2012

The Authority's performance with respect to advisory 
services is measured through quarterly client service 
monitoring surveys that gather client perception on the 
service offered. Other data regarding tax registration is 
captured by collecting data through internal systems and 
processes. 

Generally, the Authority performed well in most of the 
client services during the year under review. Of notable 
performance is the private and confidential treatment of 
clients, where all the sampled clients indicated that they 
were given private and confidential treatment. 
Regarding acknowledgment and response to comments 
and complaints, the Authority acknowledged 90 percent 
of its clients' comments and complaints within the set 
standard of 5 days and responded to 91 percent of them 
within the set standard of 14 days.  In addition, the 
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Authority processed 88 percent and 85 percent of the tax 
clearance certificates and customs declarations within 
the set standards of 2 days and 1.5 days, respectively. In 
terms of the  provision of tax information to clients, 92 
percent of the surveyed clients acknowledged that they 
received adequate tax information from the Authority 
(See Figure 3 below). 

Overall, in comparison to 2012, the Authority recorded 
improved performance in 3 out of 9 standards related to 
advisory services (See Figure 3).

Figure 3: Effectiveness of taxpayer registration and 
Advisory Services in 2013 and 2012
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The Authority's priorities for the year 2013 were 
leveraged on actions undertaken in the previous year 
although new priorities were also identified. Optimising 
revenue collection, improving service delivery, 
compliance enhancement and improving the business 
environment remained high on our agenda. The priorities 
for the year were thus anchored on widening the tax base 
through increased monitoring of the mineral value chain; 
improving operational efficiency through constant 
monitoring of our service delivery levels; enhancing 
compliance and enforcement actions through the use of 
scanners and enforcement of border controls; and the 
enhancement of business development through the 
development and implementation of robust web-based 
tax administration systems namely TaxOnline and 
ASYCUDAWorld. 

Widening the tax base

Increasing tax collection from the mining sector

In its quest to provide an informed, transparent and non-
discriminatory platform for optimal collection of taxes and 
other fiscal revenues from Zambia's mining industry, the 
Authority commissioned the Mineral Value Chain 
Monitoring Project. The objectives of the Project  include:

·reviewing o mechanisms for monitoring the 
mining and mineral value chain from exploration 
to exportation;

·the development and implementation of 
mechanisms for monitoring and facilitating the 
export of minerals out of Zambia, so as to fully 
realize the expected financial benefits; and

·institutionalising the framework, in other 
agencies,  through effect ive change 
management.

A team of consultants versed with current and historical 
operations of the mining sector in Zambia was 
constituted to assist with the  implementation and 
attainment of the set objectives. In this regard, the 
Mineral Value Chain Monitoring Project was incepted on 

th17  June 2013. A project team from within ZRA was also 
appointed to work with the consultants, on the Project. 
The project team conducted a review of the regulatory 
and procedural framework in the mining sector. 

The Project conducted a baseline survey of the mines in 
order to appreciate the operations of the mines with a 
view to making proposals on how best to formulate a 
framework for reporting on mining operations from 
production to export. The survey covered a total of 16 
mines with about 18 site visits to major mining 
companies, involved in copper and gemstone 
production.

As part of the benchmarking exercise, the team carried 
out a study tour in  Tanzania which  has implemented a 
mineral monitoring system managed by an independent 

 

agency called the Tanzania Mineral Audit Agency. The 
benefits to be derived from the benchmarking   exercise 
are expected to be in the form of improved mineral export 
reporting and collections of taxes. 

Taxation of Small and Medium Taxpayers  

One of the key recommendations of the study that was 
undertaken by ZRA in conjunction with GIZ under a 
programme aimed at enhancing the taxation of  Small and 
Medium Taxpayers (SMTs) in Zambia was the need for 
ZRA to implement a sector prioritization of SMTs in tax 
administration based on revenue potential and the level of 
administrative costs. In order to operationalize this 
recommendation and also bearing in mind that it was not 
possible for ZRA to address simultaneously the entire 
SMT sector due to resource constraints, a sub-sector 
approach was recommended. This meant that a sub-
sector that holds the best revenue potential and could give 
meaningful yields was targeted for this exercise. In order 
to identify and prioritize subsectors, ZRA needed to 
critically interrogate data from within ZRA and other 
sources that would enable a focused approach. National 
Economic Census data compiled by Central Statistical 
Office (CSO) was identified as valuable data for the 
exercise. ZRA data required harmonisation because it 
departs from International Standard Industrial 
Classification (ISIC) used by CSO. ISIC System provides 
a comprehensive framework within which economic 
analysis, decision taking and policy making, monitoring, 
analysis and evaluation of the performance of taxes in 
relation to the economy can be made. Furthermore, with 
the adoption of the ISIC system, business units within ZRA 
will now be able to make international comparisons of tax 
performance through increased comparability with 
existing regional classifications.

In view of this need, a training of trainers' workshop in ISIC 
was held in November 2013 under the auspices of CSO 
with the support of GIZ. Participants were drawn from 
Taxpayer Services Units (LTO and SMTO), Customs 
Services (International Trade and Policy and DMI), 
Domestic Taxes Division (Design and Monitoring), the  
TaxOnline Project and the Research and Planning 
Department.  The group that participated in this exercise 
will train other key officers/users in the codes within ZRA. 

With the support of GIZ, a delegation of officers from ZRA 
visited Germany as part of the SMEs taxation work plan 
for purposes of sharing experiences and discussing 
international best practices on SMT tax administration 
approaches (including tax audits) in Germany and 
Zambia. Areas of cooperation that were agreed upon for 
the taxation of SMT included; development of a 
compliance strategy for SME taxation, visits by 
experienced advisors, from Germany,  on compliance 
strategy for SME Taxation, technology transfer to ZRA 
(SESAM Software Application) and knowledge transfer in 
auditing.

Priorities for the Year 
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Enhancing revenue collection using the Block 
Management System 

The Block Management System (BMS), a tax compliance 
monitoring initiative  adopted by ZRA to enhance 
revenues and broaden the tax base, was implemented in 
April 2013 with Kamwala area as the pilot block. 

The BMS team visited 850 taxpayers and a total of 900 
trading outlets in the area during the year. A door-to-door 
taxpayer education campaign involving more 560 traders 
was also conducted in the month of October 2013.

Audit visits conducted in the year yielded a total of K3, 
877,064.53 in tax assessments. The greatest challenge 
experienced with the compliance methodology has been 
the tendency, by some taxpayers, to change trading 
areas and to  close or change business names once they 
have been visited by ZRA Officers. The Authority is alive 
to this mischief and other compliance and enforcement 
initiatives are being pursued to curb this practice.  

Taxpayer Education and Advisory Services

Provision of taxpayer education and advisory services 
remained an important component of the Authority's 
overall tax compliance strategy. In an effort to interact 
with our clients, the Authority employed important 
innovations to improve taxpayer services. In 2013, the 
Authority developed   the Taxpayer Education Strategy 
which was approved by the Governing Board. The 
Strategy is aimed at creating a framework within which all 
taxpayer education activities, undertaken by the 
Authority,  shall be optimised with the sole aim of helping 
the organisation meet its strategic business objectives 
through building excellent stakeholder relations, both 
internal and external.

Improving operational efficiency

Physical Infrastructure Development

In 2013, the Authority continued to pay particular 
attention to the improvement of staff housing at all its 
stations. On this account, the construction of 34 staff 
houses, located in Chirundu, Nakonde and 
Kasumbalesa, which commenced in 2012 was 
completed in 2013. In addition, the Authority commenced 
the construction of staff houses at Kazungula and 
Mokambo Border Posts. The Authority further continued 
to uplift the physical infrastructure in various stations and 
border points. This saw the refurbishment and extension 
of infrastructure at Victoria Falls Border Post, Kazungula 
Border Post, Kasumbalesa Border Post and Kapiri 
Mposhi Station in works valued at K6.89 million.  
  
ICT Records Management System 

The Authority embarked on the implementation of the 
Electronic Records Management System (ERMS) in 
2012 with the financial support of the Public Expenditure 

Management and Financial Accountability (PEMFA). 
However, due to the procurement processes and other 
intervening circumstances the year closed before the 
Project could be implemented and as such the donor 
funding was not appropriated. In 2013, new donor 
funding was secured under the 'PEMFA successor' the 
Public Financial Management Reform Programme 
(PFMRP) to continue with the project in 2014. To this 
effect, necessary hardware (servers and scanners) was 
procured by ZRA in the third quarter of 2013. 
Furthermore, records audit exercises were carried out to 
clean-up records at outer stations in readiness for the 
ERMS implementation. This also involved  the transfer of 
obsolete records. Basic Records Management Training 
was also provided to Record Clerks at selected stations. 
In addition, the Authority commenced an exercise to 
reorganise and re-sort the file collections at Kitwe and 
Lusaka in the new TPIN format,  in readiness for 
digitisation onto the ERMS.

Client Service 

The Taxpayer Charter helps taxpayers understand their 
rights under the law, the service and other standards they 
can expect from ZRA including their tax obligations and 
also provides avenues for seeking recourse. During the 
year under review, the Authority continued working 
towards upholding the standards set out in the Taxpayer 
Charter in its efforts to improve operational efficiency and 
service delivery, thereby enhancing voluntary 
compliance amongst the taxpayers. The Charter keeps 
the Authority's workforce steadfast and aware of the 
expected levels of performance under tasks that drive tax 
administration. It also acts as a benchmark on the 
Authority's service delivery and interaction with 
taxpayers.

Enforcement and Compliance Actions 

Scanner Operations

The deployment of Non-Intrusive Inspection Equipment 
also known as scanners in the examination of imports 
and exports has complimented the enforcement activities 
in the clearance of goods resulting in reduced processing 
time and increased compliance among importers and 
exporters. 

In the period under review, a total of 51,742 trucks were 
scanned from a total of 86,944 that were recorded at 
Katima Mulilo Border Post, Chirundu One Stop Border 
Post (OSBP) and Livingstone Port Office. Seventy-eight 
(78) of the scanned trucks at Chirundu OSBP had 
discrepancies and K155, 901.00 was consequently 
collected as additional revenue. The major risk identified 
was the concealment of various goods. However, the 
unquantifiable positive outcome of having scanners is 
that they have a deterrent effect. (see Table 1)

Additionally, physical inspections conducted on the four 
(4) scanned trucks at Katima Mulilo that had 
discrepancies revealed that the un-manifested goods 
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were of negligible value and for personal use of the 
drivers and as such the taxes were waived (goods 
rebated). The drivers were, however, cautioned and 
implored to always ensure that they declare goods that 
are for their personal use to avoid being penalised.

Table 1: Scanners Activity Report for 2013

The scanner at Chanida has not yet commenced 
operations due to the non-availability of a site technician 
and also due to lack of adequate trained staff. Similarly, 
Kazungula Border Post had not commenced scanning 
operations as members of staff were yet to be trained. 
However, the Authority intends to train members of staff 
to be deployed to both Chanida and Kazungula Border 
Posts so that scanning activities commence within the 
shortest time possible. The Authority has already 
engaged the supplier of the scanners to provide a site 
technician at Chanida. 

Border Enforcement

Enforcement and compliance activities are undertaken at 
various ports on a risk based approach through 
inspections, road blocks and follow ups on intelligence 
information received from the various stakeholders. 
Compliance visits are also made to Bonded Warehouses 
and Customs Areas for inland ports. 

A comparison of the values of goods detained and seized 
in 2013 indicates a decrease of 16.03 percent compared 
to 2012. 

Table 2: Detentions and Seizures for the period 2013

 

Type   2013 
(K’Mn)

 

2012 
(K’Mn)

 

Variance 
(K’Mn)

% Variance

Value of Detained 
Goods

 

42.72

 
62.41

 
(19.69) (31.55)%

Value of Seized 
Goods

 

22.37

 

15.11

 

7.26 48.05%

Total 65.09 77.52 (12.43) (16.03)%

pursue a structured approach in order to facilitate the 
effective management of risks as it discharges its 
statutory and business objectives. The Authority applies 
Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) which entails 
planning, organising, leading and controlling its activities 
in a manner that minimises the risk on the organisation's 
objectives.

Among the critical areas in which the risk management 
process continued to be used was the development of 
divisional and departmental action plans. Therefore, all 
annual action plans included actions specifically meant to 
address major risks. At the operational level, risk 
management was used in the selectivity module on 
ASYCUDA++ as well as in the selection of both internal 
and external audits.

In addition, the implementation of Business Continuity 
Planning (BCP) within the risk management framework 
took centre stage in 2013 with the Governing Board 
approving the Business Continuity Policy. The 
organisation-wide Business Impact Analysis (BIA) and 
Risk Assessment (RA) to identify the risks, impact and 
treatment for the critical business processes which was 
launched in 2012 was completed in 2013. 

The process of developing the divisional and 
departmental Business Continuity Plans (BCPs) also 
commenced after the BIA and RA. This is envisaged to 
give reasonable assurance to the Authority for the 
continuity capability of the critical business activities. 
During the same year, the development of the corporate 
BCP which incorporates the Crisis Management 
Framework was commenced. The development process 
of the corporate BCP is earmarked for completion and 
approval by Management in the first quarter of 2014. 
Once approved, the BCP will serve the primary purpose of 
ensuring continuity of critical business functions of the 
Authority in the event of major disasters and prolonged 
disruption to critical business operations. Implementation 
of BCP, which started with BIA and RA has been phased, 
starting with head office operations and selected outer 
stations with a  roll out to other stations expected before 
the close of 2014. 

Implementation of TaxOnline 

The TaxOnline Project rolled out phase 1 of the system in 
October 2013. Phase 1 has the following modules: 
Registration, Returns, Payments (Cash Office) and Portal 
Tax Accounting. E-registration, e-filing and other e-
services were also launched. Unlike ITAS, the system 
automatically generates penalties - a facility that works 
towards increasing voluntary compliance and improving 
revenue collections.
 
With the introduction of TaxOnline taxpayers can now 
register and file returns online.  In November 2013,  a total 
of 437 returns were filed online while December  saw a 
sharp increase in the number of Taxpayers filing returns 
online to 3, 897. This increase is attributable to the training 
sessions and awareness activities carried out during the 
months of November and December 2013.  
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Port  Total Truck Traffic  Scanned  Truck with 
discrepancies

Additional 
Revenue 

Collected (K)

Chirundu

 

82,844

 

47,642

 

74 155,901

Chanida

 

n/a

 

n/a

 

n/a n/a

Livingstone

 

128

 

128

 

0 0

Kazungula

 

n/a

 

n/a

 

n/a n/a

Katima 
Mulilo

3,972 3,972 4 0

Total 86,944 51,742 78 155,901

 

The detentions and seizures mostly related to the 
following: motor vehicles awaiting final clearance and 
those on expired bonding entries and CIPs; goods that 
had overstayed in Customs Areas; and those with 
pending payments. 

Business Development

Risk Management and Business Continuity Planning 

The Authority has in place an on-going risk management 
and intelligence process that is applied in critical aspects 
of tax administration. The policy of the Authority is to 



The implementation of TaxOnline has not been without 
challenges. Taxpayers who failed to meet the data 
migration criteria had to be re-registered on TaxOnline. 
This resulted in long queues after the roll out of 
TaxOnline. It is expected that this will stabilise after the 
transition period. Another challenge has been poor 
internet connectivity experienced by some stations and 
taxpayers. There are still a number of taxpayers who do 
not have access to internet facilities and are therefore 
unable to benefit from the e-services on TaxOnline. In 
addition, the e-payment module is yet to be rolled out as 
ZRA is still liaising with the banks on the implementation.

Kwacha Rebasing Project 

stFollowing the introduction of the rebased currency on 1  
January 2013, the Authority continued to monitor how the 
measures put in place to ensure a smooth transition were 
working. The operatives were encouraged to report any 
challenges to the project team to assist in quick 
resolution of identified challenges. 

One of the issues reported was the need to have bond 
holders submit rebased bonds to support the rebased 
values that were to be captured on the ZRA Automated 
System for Customs Data (ASYCUDA++). On 
consultation with the Central Bank, the Authority allowed 
stakeholders to operate the rebased accounts without 
necessarily processing fresh bonds.

The other major post-implementation challenge was the 
stposting of returns relating to periods prior to 1  January 

2013 onto the system as the currency amounts on the 
system had been rebased while those on the returns 
were un-rebased. This entailed rebasing amounts 
outside the system before posting the returns. This 
situation created work overloads for data entry operators 
and consequently led to slower processing of 
transactions. However, the Authority overcame the 
challenge by reinforcing the number of staff in such 
operations.

st thDuring the transition period (1 January to 30 June 
2013), the Authority successfully managed to deal with 
dual currencies as cash offices had been equipped with 
facilities to handle both the new and old currency. 
Cashiers and other line staff had also been well equipped 
with training to enable them handle post implementation 
challenges. Additionally, in order to have back-up data for 
reference purposes, the Authority still maintains back-

stups of un-rebased data for periods prior to 1  January 
2013.

Modernisation of Trade Logistics 

In 2013, the Authority continued with the implementation 
of strategies to improve trade facilitation by modernising 
trade logistics. To this effect, the following major 
milestones were achieved in the implementation of 
ASYCUDAWorld:

·training of the National Implementation Team in 
Jordan;

·completion of the Business Process Report by 

UNCTAD and International Finance corporation 
(World Bank);

·a Peer to Peer Learning event in Livingstone;

·study tour to Zimbabwe;

·training of internal and external users; and 

·ASYCUDAWorld Pilot at Kenneth Kaunda 
International Airport; and

·Roll-out to Lusaka Port, Chirundu, Kariba, 
Livingstone, Victoria Falls and Kazungula.

In addition, the creation  of Central Processing Centres (a 
concept which entails that all documents are processed at 
selected inland ports) at Lusaka Port and Ndola Port were 
finalised with the exception of the Kabwe Centre.  This will 
minimise physical interaction between Customs Officers 
and taxpayers. To further improve customs infrastructure 
and processing, the Authority continued to pursue efforts 
towards the installation of eight scanners at selected 
borders. In the year under review, three (3) scanners were 
commissioned at Katima Mulilo, Kazungula and Chanida 
Border Posts. 

Further, the railway scanner at Kapiri Mposhi was 
awaiting the Final User Acceptance Testing to be 
conducted before commissioning, whereas the 
Kasumbalesa scanner was pending commissioning. 
Additionally, construction works  at the scanner sites in 
Mwami and Nakonde Border Posts  were  still in 
progress. It is envisaged that the installation of scanners 
will enhance trade facilitation and improve compliance.

Stakeholder Relations 

Cooperating Partner Relations

The Authority continued to engage various cooperating 
partners for financial and technical assistance in its quest 
to improve operational efficiency and service delivery 
through enhancement of staff skills and development of 
new business processes. The cooperating partners 
engaged included the International Monetary Fund (IMF), 
International Finance Corporation (IFC), Investment 
Climate Facility (ICF), Norwegian Government, 
International Growth Centre (IGC), the US Treasury 
Department and Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale 
Zusammenarbeit (GIZ).

The key external partners that the Authority cooperated 
with, in 2013, and their areas of co-operation include the 
following:

International Finance Corporation (IFC)

The Authority has received technical assistance from the 
IFC in the area of Compliance Strategy and Business 
Process Re-engineering for other Government Agencies 
as part of the preparation for the ASYCUDAWorld Single 
Window implementation.

The scope of the Compliance Strategy technical 
assistance covered a comprehensive review of the 
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Customs Compliance Strategy which translated into the 
development of specific penalties and offences. In 
addition,  standardized and graduated treatment of 
offenders has also been provided.

The scope of the Business Process Re-engineering 
covered a review of the processes relating to import and 
export procedures for the identified Government 
Agencies and development of procedures that to  fit into 
the Single Concept under the ASYCUDAWorld system. 
This Technical Assistance has been undertaken with lead 
collaboration by the Private Sector Development Reform 
Programme.

The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and 
Development (OECD)

Through the Ministry of Finance, the Authority entered 
into an agreement in respect of a capacity building 
programme, with the OECD/World Bank,  on transfer 
pricing. 

The scope of the OECD programme extended beyond 
transfer pricing issues to a wider range of international 
tax issues, including cross-border tax-avoidance. The 
programme will run for 2 to 3 years. Under this 
programme, revisions to the primary legislation, on 
transfer pricing, were made in 2013 and included in the 
2014 National Budget. 

Deutsche Gesellschaft  für Internationale 
Zusammenarbeit (GIZ)

GIZ continued its support to ZRA with respect to widening 
the tax base through enhanced SME and informal sector 
taxation and research and analytical capabilities. In 
2013, the support was extended to building capacity in 
Rules of Origin. 

Swedish International Development Agency (SIDA) / 
National Board of Trade (NBT)

SIDA and NBT also provided assistance to the Authority 
in capacity building in Rules of Origin.

Public Expenditure Management and Financial 
Accountability Programme (PEMFA)

The cooperation with PEMFA aims to support enhanced 
tax administration by supporting the Authority to build and 
maintain critical infrastructure so as to enhance 
performance. PEMFA is a cross-donor programme with a 
budget of $3.5m allocated to ZRA from 2011 to 2013. 
PEMFA has six components:

1. Infrastructure development/maintenance - 
construction of offices and training facilities;

2. Increasing internal training capacity – hardware 
for training facilities;

3. Institutionalising the Project Management 

Function – office hardware;

4. Enhanced ICT solutions in tax administration – 
web-based TaxOnline and ASYCUDAWorld, 
communication hardware;

5. Supporting Research and Planning – technical 
assistance; and

6. Expanding the tax base – establishment of a 
capital gains office, research and training on 
capital gains taxation,  the valuation of vehicles, 
taxpayer education media campaigns.

International Growth Centre (IGC)

The IGC programme supports the Research and 
Planning Department which in turn supports the Mining 
Unit programme by providing mining tax policy and 
administration analysis. 

Investment Climate Facility for Africa (ICF)

The ICF for Africa is a unique Public-Private Partnership, 
between the Government and business, that aims to help 
Africa create an attractive business environment and 
realise its potential as a global player and trading partner. 
ICF works to remove real and perceived obstacles to 
domestic and foreign investment by assisting African 
countries to prepare and promote the continent as an 
investment destination.

The ICF is supporting the Authority in the delivery of 
TaxOnline through funding arrangements for change 
management activities. The focus of change 
management activities includes external stakeholder 
engagement to encourage compliance of taxpayers and 
support to the new tax administration systems. Thus far, 
major external stakeholders that have been engaged on 
the new systems include the business community, 
accountants and Government entities. 

ICF funding has enabled the Authority to bring awareness 
and educate the public about the tax regime in Zambia 
and ZRA services, through enhanced communication and 
taxpayer education including the establishment of the 
national Call Centre.

US Treasury - Office of Technical Assistance (OTA)

The OTA provided technical assistance to ZRA in areas of 
Project Management, TaxOnline, Risk Management, 
Investigations, Internal Audit and corporate planning.   

Royal Norwegian Embassy

The Government of Norway continued to give support to 
the Large Taxpayer Office. In October 2013, ZRA 
requested for technical assistance from the Royal 
Norwegian Government in the development and 
implementation of the Mineral Value Chain Monitoring 
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System. The request came in the context of the on-going 
support to developing capacity in the Large Taxpayer 
Office which is being implemented by the ZRA with 
technical support from the NTA and the IMF. 

International Monetary Fund 

The Authority received technical assistance from the IMF 
AFRITAC South in the area of Risk Management and 
Excise Management. The scope of the assistance 
included enhancing the application of risk management 
in Customs operations and transaction processing as 
well as enhancing capacity in the management of excise 
through the introduction of focused audits.

Further, Zambia Revenue Authority participated in a pilot 
assessment of a new IMF initiative, the Tax 
Administration Diagnostic Assessment Tool, or TADAT.  
TADAT country assessments are expected to contribute 
to strengthened tax administration, enhanced revenue 
mobilization, improved services to taxpayers, and better 
taxpayer compliance and discipline. The TADAT pilot 
assessment enabled ZRA gain a better understanding of 
reform needs and priorities.

The African Tax Administration Forum (ATAF)

ATAF was established in order to create a platform to 
promote and facilitate mutual cooperation among African 
Tax Administrations and other relevant and interested 
stakeholders with the aim of improving the efficiency of 
their tax legislation and administration.  

During the year under review, the Authority collaborated 
with the ATAF on a number of its programmes including 
the hosting of a seminar in Lusaka on the interpretation of 
tax treaties. The seminar was aimed at providing a 
general understanding of international tax concepts and 
the application of treaties through short lectures and 
discussion of case studies and illustrations. Participants 
were introduced to the structure of tax treaties and the 
resources for interpreting them through exposure to the 
various international and regional Model Tax Conventions 
and provisions commonly adopted in treaties concluded 
by countries in southern Africa.

The Authority participated in the formation of the African 
Tax Research Network that will drive the ATAF's tax 
administration research agenda.

Other Partners

The Authority continued to receive cooperation from other 
institutions through information sharing and exchange 
visits which were all aimed at optimising revenue 
collection. In this regard, the Authority continued to 
partner with institutions such as the Bank of Zambia, 
commercial banks, the Central Statistical Office (CSO), 
Zambia Development Agency (ZDA), the Anti-Corruption 
Commission (ACC), Drug Enforcement Commission 
(DEC), and Zambia Police. The National Assembly of 
Zambia and the Office of the Auditor General also 
engaged with the Authority through their oversight roles.
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Staff Integrity 

The ZRA Integrity Committee continued its integrity 
awareness programmes for various stakeholders. 
Members of staff were sensitised on the need to uphold 
integrity in both their personal lives as well as in the 
conduct of their official duties by living the corporate 
values and adhering to the ZRA Code of Ethics. 

The work of the Integrity Committee was further 
complimented by the Internal Affairs Unit which is 
mandated to investigate all matters pertaining to 
corruption, fraud and other malpractices involving the 
Authority's employees. 

These two pillars were critical in preserving our corporate 
integrity by ensuring staff accountability for their 
behaviour and performance and the promotion of a 
corrupt-free environment. The Authority, therefore, 
continued to pursue measures aimed at enhancing the 
public's perception of ZRA as this would give the tax 
paying community confidence that their taxes are 
properly accounted for.

In recognition of its efforts in promoting integrity, ZRA won 
an award for Corporate Commitment to Anti-Corruption 
and Integrity, during the Commemoration of the 

thInternational Anti-Corruption Day, in Lusaka, on 9  
December 2013.

Corporate Social Responsibility 

The Authority has in place a Corporate Social 
Responsibility (CSR) Programme. In accordance with the 
Authority's CSR Policy, the activities undertaken during 
the year targeted local communities, employees of the 
Authority, taxpayers and the environment in which the 
Authority operates. 

During the year under review, the Authority spent K 
156,366.50 on various CSR programmes to help improve 
the Authority's corporate image and increase public 
confidence in the work of the Authority. 

Staff Welfare and Relations 

HIV and AIDS 

Zambia Revenue Authority has in place strategies to 
mitigate the impact of HIV and AIDS. These strategies 
include: an HIV and AIDS Policy, peer educators' 
programmes, a Contributory Scheme for Anti-Retroviral 
Therapy (CSART) and a Medical Scheme. 

By the close of 2013, the membership to the CSART 
stood at 490 employees out of a workforce of 1,450 
representing 33.8 per cent of the total workforce. The 
number of employees accessing anti-retroviral therapy, 
under CSART,  was 75, representing 5.2 per cent of the 
total workforce of the Authority.
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Employee Relations

During the period under review, the management-
employee relations remained stable and conducive for 
business. The Joint Negotiating Council of Management 
and the Union concluded the negotiations for Salary and 
Conditions of Service for the period 2013-2014 in the 
second quarter of 2013.





   

 

 2013 (K) 2012 (K)  
Restated 

Income:
   

Government Funding –Received

 
423,989,624

 
386,509,400

 Supplementary Funding

 

31,844,194

 

4,850,000

 Investment Climate Facility

 

3,923,909

 

1,097,712

 
Norwegian Tax Administration

 

372,722

 

4,696,148

 
ASYCUDA Income

 

54,130,834

 

29,922,286

 

Other Income

 

8,739,951

 

5,473,676

 

Amortisation of Capital grant

 

2,002,850

 

1,779,849

 

Commission on Kariba dam toll fees

 

8,794

 

-

 

Total Income

 

525,012,879

 

434,329,071

 

   

Recurrent expenses:

   

Staff related expenses

 

(404,297,054)

 

(295,026,148)

 

Administrative expenses

 

(41,673,827)

 

(32,028,366)

 

Operations expenses

 

(51,307,614)

 

(42,605,578)

 

Legal and professional fees

 

(2,239,495)

 

(2,229,550)

 

Depreciation and amortisation

 

(25,532,929)

 

(11,192,870)

 

Results from operating activities

 

(38,041)

 

51,246,559

 

   

Finance income

 

4,831,636

 

3,900,261

 

Finance costs

 

(457,761)

 

(464,108)

 

Net finance income

 

4,373,875

 

3,436,153

 

Surplus/(deficit) for the year

 

(4,335,834)

 

54,682,712

 

Other comprehensive income

 

Items that will be reclassified to surplus or deficit

 
  

   

Revaluation of property, plant and equipment

 

85,201,449

 

1,920,000

 

Items that will never be reclassified to surplus or deficit

Re-measurement of defined benefit liability 104,615,000 (84,466,642)

Total other comprehensive income for the year 189,816,449 (82,546,642)

Total  comprehensive income for the year 194,152,283 (27,863,930)

 

Income

During the year under review, the Authority operated with 
an income of K525.0 million out of which K423.9 million 
was funding appropriated by the Government. The 
Government appropriated funding included K50.0 million 
for modernisation reforms. The funding for 
modernisation reforms decreased by K70.0 million in 
2013 representing a 41.7 percent decrease over the 
2012 level. Income from ASYCUDA fees was K54.1 
million in 2013, up from K29.9 million in the previous year. 
Other income amounted to K8.7 million. Table 3 provides 
a comparative summary of our operating income and 
expenditure for 2013 and 2012

Managing Resources

Table 3: Summary of Income and expenditure, 2013 and 2012

 

Suffice to note that, in 2013, the Authority received 
financial support from cooperating partners mainly 
Investment Climate Facility for Africa (K3.9 million) for the 
implementation of the integrated tax administration 
system and Norwegian Tax Administration (K372, 722) 
for capacity building of the Mining Unit.

Recurrent Expenditure

Staff costs in 2013 accounted for a larger share of the 
Authority's recurrent expenditure at 77.0 percent 

followed by operational costs at 10.2 percent, 
administrative costs 7.9 percent while other costs 
accounted for 4.9 percent.  Staff costs, in 2013,  
increased by 37.0 percent over the previous year.  This 
increase was largely attributed to an increase in the staff 
complement which stood at 1, 450 as at the end of the 
year compared to 1,357 in 2012.  Administrative 
expenses increased by 30.1 percent, while inspection 
and enforcement costs increased by 19.4 percent. 

Capital Expenditure

In addition to the above operating expenses, the Authority 
spent K446.9 million in capital expenditure compared to 

K21.2 million in 2012. The increased expenditure was 
attributed to investment in infrastructure such as 
Mpendwa House,  in Ndola, construction of staff houses 
at Chirundu, Nakonde and Kasumbalesa Border Posts, 
the acquisition of non-intrusive scanner equipment and 
motor vehicles to enhance compliance.

The detailed financial performance based on Accrual 
Basis of Accounting is shown in the Financial Statements 
from pages 56 to 92.
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Gross Domestic Product (1994 base)

In 2013, the economy, as measured by the nominal 
Gross Domestic Product (GDP), grew to K 125.9 billion 
from K 106.0 billion in 2012. This translates into a real 
growth of 6.5 percent compared to 7.3 percent recorded 
in 2012.

The economic activities that recorded significant real 
growth include: Transport, Storage and Communications 
at 16.0 percent; Community, Social and Personal 
Services at 12.8 percent Construction at 12.4 percent; 
and Financial Institutions and Insurance at 12.2 percent. 
It is worth noting that the Mining and Quarrying sector 
recorded positive growth of 4.1 percent compared to 
negative growth of 2.7 percent, in 2012. 

The drivers of the economy in terms of sector share 
contribution to real GDP growth remained fairly 
unchanged in 2013 compared to 2012 (see Table 4). In 
both years, Construction and Transport, Storage and 
Communications were the key drivers of real GDP 
growth. Specifically, Transport, Storage and 
Communications accounted for 1.8 percentage points 
followed by Construction with 1.6, while 1.1 percentage 
points were attributed to the Community, Social and 
Personal sector. The sectors which accounted for the 
smallest share were Restaurants, Bars and Hotels and 
Electricity, Gas and Water, while Agriculture, Forestry 
and Fishing declined.

Economic Performance

Table 4: Growth and share of real GDP 
growth in 2013 and 2012

New Gross Domestic Product Estimates (in 2010 
constant prices)

In March, 2014, the Central Statistical Office (CSO) 
concluded the shifting of the GDP benchmark year from 
1994 to 2010 to reflect the changing composition of the 
Zambian economy. Preliminary figures indicate that 
nominal GDP in 2013 increased from K125 billion under 
the 1994 benchmark to K145 billion under the 2010 
benchmark. Furthermore, the relative importance of 
economic sectors has been adjusted to reflect the 
economy today. The Authority recognises the implication 
of this change in reporting standards especially on tax to 
GDP ratio which will now appear to be low.

The economy in 2013, as measured by the nominal 
Gross Domestic Product (GDP), grew to K 145.533 billion 
from K 128.96 billion in 2012. This translates into a real 
growth of 6.7 percent compared to 6.3 percent recorded 
in 2012.

The drivers of the economy in terms of sector share 
contribution to nominal GDP growth have been adjusted 
under the new benchmark. Wholesale and retail trade 
accounted for the largest share of GDP followed by 
Community, Social and Personal Services. In third place 
is construction, then agriculture and mining in that order. 
The new sector distribution significantly departs from the 
previous pattern where agriculture held the largest share. 
The relative importance of mining has moved up a few 
ranks along with manufacturing.    

Inflation 

During 2013, the inflation rate remained within the single 
digit range. It reached the maximum rate of 7.3 percent in 
June and July and a minimum rate of 6.5 percent in April 
(see Figure 4). The sudden rise in inflation in the middle of 
the year reflects the price effect of the removal of 
Government subsidies on maize and fuel, in May 2013. 
This was further worsened by a relatively lower maize 
harvest. Towards the end of the year, sustained 
depreciation of the Kwacha stoked domestic inflation 
even further. 

Interest Rate

Commercial banks' lending rates declined further in 2013 
from 19.1 percent in 2012 to an average of 16.0 percent 
compared to 19.1 percent in 2012 (see Figure 4). 

Similarly, the commercial banks' weighted average 
lending base rate declined to 10 percent in 2013 from 
12.1 percent registered in 2012. 
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Percentage 
growth

Percentage 
share of real 
GDP growth

KIND OF ECONOMIC ACTIVITY
 

2013
 

2012 2013 2012

Agriculture, Forestry and Fishing
 

(7.4)
 

6.8 (0.9) 0.9

Mining and Quarrying  4.1  (2.7) 0.3 (0.2)

Manufacturing  5.8  7.2 0.5 0.7

Electricity, Gas and Water  5.0  4.1 0.1 0.1

Construction  12.4  15.3 1.6 1.6

Wholesale and  Retail Trade
 

3.3
 

4.0 0.5 0.6

Restaurants, Bars and Hotels
 

0.7
 

(2.6) 0.0 (0.1)

Transport, Storage and Communications
 

16.0
 

12.8 1.8 1.3

Financial Institutions and Insurance

 

12.2

 

12.0 0.9 0.8

Real Estate and Business services

 

3.1

 

3.7 0.2 0.3

Community, Social and Personal Services

 

12.8

 

9.4 1.1 0.8

FISIM
1

 

2.3

 

2.3 (0.1) (0.1)

Taxes on products less subsidies

 

6.5

 

7.3 0.5 0.5

TOTAL

 

6.5

 

7.3 6.5 7.3

 

Source: CSO



Figure 4: Inflation and interest rates in 2013

Source: Bank of Zambia

Exchange Rate

Between January 2013 and December 2013, the 
Kwacha depreciated against the US Dollar by 4.5 
percent averaging K5.39 per US Dollar from an average 
of K5.14 per US Dollar in 2012. There were, however, two 
episodes of strong performance in May and October but 
these were followed by large dips. The exchange rate 
during the first half of the year averaged K5.35 per US 
Dollar which then sharply appreciated to the year's 
lowest of K5.32 in May and October 2013. Thereafter, a 
depreciating trend set in and this continued up to the end 
of the year with the exchange rate closing at K5.53 per 
US Dollar.  Overall, the average exchange rate for the 
Kwacha against the US Dollar during 2013 was K5.39 
(see Figure 5). 

Figure 5: Exchange rate movement in 2013

Source: Bank of Zambia

Commodity Prices

Movements on the international markets of the prices of 
copper and crude oil, the country's major export and 
import commodities respectively, tend to affect the 
direction of key macroeconomic variables such as the 
exchange rate and inflation in Zambia.  

Prices of copper and cobalt were generally lower in 2013 
than in 2012. This exerted pressure on the overall 
balance of trade for Zambia despite the countervailing 
effect of lower crude oil prices. (see Table 5)

As shown below, the average price of copper in 2013 was 
US$7, 325.3 per metric tonne compared to US$7,948.9 
per metric tonne in 2012, while the price of cobalt 

declined to an average of US $26,561.0 per tonne in 2013 
from US$28,454.6 per tonne in 2012. 

Table 5: Commodity prices in 2013 and 2012

Source: Bank of Zambia

The monthly dynamics in the prices of cobalt indicates 
that the price tended to fluctuate gently throughout the 
year, while that of copper tended to have a downward 
trend (see Figure 6). 

Figure 6: Price of copper and cobalt in 2013 
(average monthly prices)

Source: Bank of Zambia

On the other hand, the price of crude oil was relatively 
unstable in 2013 (see Figure 7).

Figure 7: Price of Crude oil in 2013 
(average monthly price)

Source: Bank of Zambia
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 Copper US$  
per metric tonne  

Cobalt US$  
per metric tone  

Crude oil US$
per barrel

 2013  2012  2013  2012  2013 2012

Average       
7,325.3  

       
7,948.9   

     
26,561.0  

     
28,454.6   

        
104.3 107.9

High       
8,069.6  

       
8,456.1   

     
29,545.0  

     
32,678.6   

        
111.0 120.3

Low       
6,892.0  

       
7,419.5   

     
23,710.5  

     
23,222.7   

          
99.7 93.2



Tax Policy Support 

TTax Policy Review Committee

As part of its mandate of advising the Minister 
responsible for finance on tax policy matters, the 
Authority discharged this mandate through its 
participation in the design, development and 
implementation of tax policy as a member of the Tax 
Policy Review Committee (TPRC) under the Ministry of 
Finance (MoF).

Provision of Tax Revenue Data and Information

One of the critical functions of the Authority is to provide 
statistical information on revenue to the Government. 
During the year under review, the Authority provided 
revenue data and other trade and income related 
statistics to various stakeholders such as Parliament, 
MoF, CSO, Bank of Zambia (BoZ), National Pension 
Scheme Authority and other private stakeholders such as 
research institutions and business organisations. With 
regard to data provided to the Ministry of Finance, this 
was critical in determining revenue impacts of proposed 
tax policy measures. The Authority also prepared 
layman's drafts on proposed changes to tax legislation.
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Budget Legislation

In the 2013 fiscal year, Parliament passed 7 Bills 
containing 48 tax measures, with a significant number of 

stthem becoming effective from 1  January 2014.  

Income tax and customs and excise related measures 
accounted for 17 and 21 respectively, while VAT related 
measures were eight (8). The remaining measures were 
of a cross-cutting nature. As part of its taxpayer education 
programme, the Authority produced budget highlight 
pamphlets to explain, in simple language,  the measures 
as contained in the Budget. Furthermore, educational 
workshops were conducted for various stakeholders in 
addition to the materials being posted on the Authority's  
website. 

Ministerial and Parliamentary Services 

During the year 2013, the Authority interacted with several 
ministries and Government agencies and Parliament. The 
mode of interaction was through the over 720 pieces of 
correspondence received during the year. Further, the 
Authority provided Parliamentary briefs through the 
Ministry of Finance. The Authority also responded to the 
Reports of the Committee on Economic Affairs, Energy 
and Labour and the Committee on Education, Science 
and Technology. In addition, the Authority appeared 
before the Committee on Economic Affairs, Energy and 
Labour, the Committee on Estimates, the Expanded 
Committee on Estimates for the 2014 Budget Estimates 
and the Public Accounts Committee. 





Structure of the revenue system in 2013

The structure of the revenue system during the year 
under review remained largely unchanged from the 
previous years with income taxes continuing to be the 
major source of tax revenue, accounting for over 50 
percent of the total tax revenue. It is worth noting that 
compared to 2012, the share of income taxes reduced by 
6.4 percentage points while that of VAT increased by 8.9 
percentage points in 2013. The reduction in the share of 
income taxes will provide relief to personal income taxes 
in the long run, while the increase in the share of VAT 
unveils the potential of this broad based consumption tax 
to grow and contribute to national revenue.

Review of Revenue Performance

Figure 8: Proportion of tax types to total revenue 

2009 – 2013

In 2013, income tax contributed 50.2 percent of the tax 
revenue, followed by VAT (domestic and import) at 31.8 
percent, excise duties at 10.1 percent and customs and 
import duties which contributed 7.9 percent. 

Within the income tax category, PAYE accounted for 49.3 
percent of income tax revenues. The share of VAT, which 
was boosted by domestic VAT, increased to 31.8 percent 
in 2013 from 22.9 percent in 2012. 

Customs and export duties were the smallest source of 
tax revenue, mainly consisting of customs duty 
contributing 7.9 percent in 2013 down from 9.8 percent in 
2012. 

Tax Revenue Performance in 2013

In 2013, the Authority collected total revenue amounting 
to K23, 190.8 million against a Parliament target of K23, 
565.5.million, thereby registering a deficit of K374.7 
million or 1.6 percent below target. Compared to 2012, 
the 2013 tax revenue collection increased by K2, 383.8 
million in nominal terms (see Table 6).

The underperformance of mining company tax was the 
major source of the overall tax revenue deficit. The 
reason attributed to this underperformance was the 
downward revision of provisional tax estimates in the 
mining sector. The sector had unused capital allowances 
from the construction of the smelter and other capital 
expenditure which they now brought into their final 

accounts for the year 2012 in order to take advantage of 
stthe 100 percent capital deductions which ended on 31  

December 2012. The underperformance of the mining 
sector was also attributed to declining copper prices on 
the international market during the year under review. In 
addition, the lower than projected real economic growth 
of 6.5 percent compared to the projected growth of above 
7.0 percent also negatively affected the revenue outturn.

The underperformance in the mining sector led to a 
revision of the target to a 2013 baseline target of K22, 
860.2 that was agreed with Ministry of Finance and the 
International Monetary Fund (IMF). Thus the revenue 
collections of K23, 190.8 million against this revised 
baseline target of K22, 860.2 registered a surplus of 
K330.7.million or 1.4 percent.

Iin March 2014, the Central Statistical Office,  re-
benchmarked the GDP from 1994 constant prices to 2010 
constant prices resulting in higher GDP estimates. Table 
6 on the following page presents the tax to GDP ratio in 
1994 and 2010 constant prices.

The following section discusses the Authority's revenue 
performance against the Parliament target, by tax type.

Income Taxes

Income tax collections recorded a decline in 2013 despite 
having shown an upward surge over the last five years, as 
depicted in Figure 9. The underperformance of company 
tax was the major source of this decline. It is worth noting 
that the decline was across all tax types, except for PAYE. 

Income tax revenue was K11, 630.6 million against the 
parliament target of K12, 709.6 million which was 8.5 
percent below target. Out of the total income tax revenue 
collected in 2013, K2, 852.3 million was company tax 
(24.5%), K5, 738.7 million was PAYE (49.4%), K1, 278.9 
million was withholding tax (11.0%) and K1, 760.7 million 
was mineral royalty (15.1%). 

Figure 9: Trend in income tax collections, 2009 - 2013 
(K' million)

The unfavourable performance of company tax, as 
already alluded, to was mainly due to the downward 
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Table 6: Tax revenue performance in 2013 (K' million)

revision of provisional tax estimates by a major mining 
entity that sought to take advantage of the 100 percent 
capital allowance deductions which ended on December 
2012. The underperformance of mineral royalty is on 
account of reduced mineral royalty payments by major 
mining companies and was further exacerbated by the 
decline in the price of copper on the international market. 
Meanwhile,  the underperformance of withholding tax is 
attributed mainly to reduced payments by major 
contributors during the year.

PAYE collections on the other hand surpassed the 2013 
target, despite the increase in the PAYE exempt 

threshold from K2, 000 per month to K2, 200 per month. 
This good performance was largely on account of 
increased compliance levels and the creation of new 
employment. In addition, the upward salary adjustment 
for civil servants, effected in September 2013, also 
boosted the performance of PAYE. 

Value Added Tax

Value Added Tax (VAT) comprises domestic VAT and 
import VAT. In 2013, a total of K7, 363.8 million was 
collected in VAT against a target of K6, 241.4 million. This 
collection was K1, 122.4 million or 18.0 percent above 
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Tax Types  Actual 
Outturn  

Target  Variance 
of actual 
vs target 

Percenta
ge 

variance 
of target 

Percenta
ge of 
GDP 

(1994 
base) 

Percenta
ge of 
GDP 

(2010 
base) 

Total Revenue  23,190.8  23,565.5  (374.7) (1.6)% 18.4% 15.9% 

I. Tax Revenue  23,154.8  23,536.7  (381.9) (1.6)% 18.4% 15.9% 

A. Income Taxes  11,630.6  12,709.6  (1,079.0) (8.5)% 9.2% 8.0% 

       1. Company Tax  2,852.3  4,603.6  (1,751.3) (38.0)% 2.3% 2.0% 

         Non Mining 
Company Tax  

1,767.5  2,282.9  (515.3) (22.6)% 1.4% 1.2% 

         Mining Company 
Tax  

1,084.7  2,320.7  (1,236.0) (53.3)% 0.9% 0.8% 

       2. PAYE  5,738.7  5,038.8  699.9  13.9% 4.6% 3.9% 

       3. Withholding Taxes 
& others  

1,278.9  1,110.2  168.7  15.2% 1.0% 0.9% 

       4. Mineral Royalty 
Tax  

1,760.7  1,957.0  (196.3) (10.0)% 1.4% 1.2% 

B. Excise Taxes  2,339.5  2,506.2  (166.7) (6.7)% 1.9% 1.6% 

       1. Excise Duties  1,546.9  1,774.2  (227.3) (12.8)% 1.2% 1.1% 

       2. Rural 
Electrification Levy  

35.0  44.7  (9.7) (21.7)% 0.0% 0.0% 

       3. Fuel Levy  731.5  659.2  72.3  11.0% 0.6% 0.5% 

       4. Carbon Tax  26.1  28.1  (2.0) (7.1)% 0.0% 0.0% 

C. VAT on domestic 
goods  

1,185.5  550.6  634.9  115.3% 0.9% 0.8% 

D. Trade taxes  7,999.1  7,770.2  228.9  2.9% 6.4% 5.5% 

     1. VAT on imports  6,178.3  5,690.8  487.5  8.6% 4.9% 4.3% 

     2. Customs Duty  1,808.4  2,075.2  (266.8) (12.9)% 1.4% 1.2% 

     3. Export Duties  12.4  4.2  8.3  196.7% 0.0% 0.0% 

         Export Duty on 
Scrap metals  

0.0  0.0  0.0  0.0%  0.0% 0.0% 

         Export Duty on 
Cotton seed  

0.3  0.0  0.3    0.0% 0.0% 

         Export Duty on 
Copper  Concentrate                                                                                                     

12.2  4.2  8.0  190.7% 0.0% 0.0% 

II. Non Tax revenue  36.0  28.3  7.8  27.2% 0.0% 0.0% 

     Medical Levy  2.5  0.0  2.5  250.0% 0.0% 0.0% 

     Motor Vehicle Fees  33.5  28.3  5.3  18.6% 0.0% 0.0% 

 



target. Out of the total VAT collection, import VAT 
contributed K6, 178.3 million while domestic VAT 
contributed K1, 185.5million. 

The strong performance of domestic VAT is attributed to 
higher gross VAT collections from both enforced and 
voluntary sources. The overall standard rated sales were 
further boosted by the enforcement of VAT Rule 18 which 
is a prerequisite for exports to be Zero rated. This 
resulted in reduced VAT refund payments arising from 
higher attributable standard rated sales against Zero 
rated sales. In addition, the implementation of TaxOnline 
in the last two months of the year introduced additional 
validation checks on TPINs on invoices used to claim 
Input VAT.

The performance of import VAT, on the other hand, was 
undermined by, amongst other things,  the introduction of 
export levies on copper ores and concentrates in the 
Democratic Republic of Congo which led to a marked 
reduction in the importation of the products by some 
mining entities. Other undermining factors were the slow 
processing efficiency and the low customs entry 
registration to assessment ratio. The performance of VAT 
and the associated refunds over the period 2009 to 2013 
is depicted in Figure 10.

Figure 10: Trend in VAT collections and refunds, 
2009 - 2013 (K' million)

Excise Duties

The underperformance of excise duties was a result of 
revenue foregone on account of various concessions as 
well as the implementation of Statutory Instruments 
Number 78 and 80 of 2013, namely the Customs and 
Excise (Suspension) (Fuel) Regulations 2013 and the 
Customs and Excise (Suspension) (Fuel) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2013 respectively, which had a negative 
impact on the contribution of excise revenue from 
hydrocarbons as they lowered the tax base for this tax 
type. 

In addition, the 2013 budget measures that removed 
excise duty on certain products such as mineral water 
and non-alcoholic drinks coupled with the change in the 
valuation basis for undenatured alcohol had a higher 
negative impact on revenue outturn than projected.

Figure11: Trend in Excise duty tax collections, 
2009 - 2013 (K' million)

Customs and Export Duties

Trade taxes are made of customs and export duties with 
customs duties accounting for the larger part. 

During the year under review, a total of K1, 820.8 million 
was collected in customs and export duties against a 
target of K2079.4 million resulting in a deficit of K258.6 
million or 12.4 percent. Of this, 99.3 percent or K1, 808.4 
million was customs duty while 0.7 percent or K12.4 
million was export duty.

The underperformance of customs duty is largely 
attributed to the revenue foregone on account of various 
concessions under the  SADC and COMESA Trade 
Protocols. Furthermore, the performance was adversely 
affected by reduced compliance, which resulted in the 
accumulation of debt in assessed and un-assessed 
taxes, respectively. The slow processing efficiency and 
the low customs entry registration to assessment ratio 
also undermined the performance of this tax type. 

The good performance of export duty on the other hand 
was buoyed by increased exports of unprocessed ores by 
small scale mines that have no access to the smelters of 
the larger mining houses. The performance of customs 
duty, including export duty,  is shown in Figure 12.  

Figure 12: Customs and export duties collections, 
2009 - 2013 (K' millions)
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Figure 13: Tax revenues from the Mining Sector 

(K' millions)

Table 7: Total revenue as share of GDP in 2013 and 2012

 Percentage  
of GDP in  

2013  

Percentage 
of GDP in

2012

 
9.2

 
11.1

 
2.3

 
4.2

(PAYE)

 

4.6
 

4.7

 

1.0

 

0.9

Mineral Royalty

 

1.4

 

1.4

 

-

 

-

Domestic Goods & Services

 

1.8

 

1.8

Excise Duty

 

1.9

 

2.1

Domestic Value-

 

0.9

 

(0.3)

 

6.4

 

6.7

Import VAT

 

4.9

 

4.7

Import Duty

 

1.4

 

1.9

Export Duty

 

0.0

 

0.0

Medical Levy

 

0.0

 

0.0

GDP 125, 946.9 106, 015.2

18.4 19.5

Figure 14: Trend in Tax Revenue to GDP ratio1995-2013

Performance of Mining Sector Taxes

Tax revenue collections from the mining sector as a 
percentage of the total tax revenue collected fell in the 
year under review compared to the previous year largely 
on account of the fiscal changes announced in the 2013 
Budget. Consequently,  in 2013, the share of total mining 
tax revenue to total tax revenue declined to 12.3 percent 
in 2013 from 19.7 percent in 2012. Of the taxes paid by 
mining companies, mineral royalty contributed the 
largest amount at K1, 760.7 million followed by company 
tax at K1, 084.7 million. Revenue from exports of copper 
concentrates was K12.2 million (see Figure 13). 

Contribution of Tax Types to Total Revenue and 
GDP

The ratio of tax revenue to GDP was recorded at 18.4 
percent of GDP in 2013 compared to 19.5 percent in 
2012. This drop in the ratio is due to the fact that the 2013 
GDP figure was revised upwards to K125, 946.9 million 
from K121, 275.2 million while the 2012 GDP figure was 
revised downwards to K106, 015.2 million from K111, 
049.4 million. 

Compared to the year 2012, the ratio of tax revenue to 
GDP in 2013 declined for most tax categories. 
Specifically, the ratio for income taxes declined to 9.2 
percent in 2013 from 11.1 percent in 2012, while taxes on 
domestic goods and services increased to 2.8 percent in 
2013 from 1.8 percent. The ratio for trade taxes also 
declined to 6.4 percent in 2013 from 6.7 percent in 2012. 
Similarly, the ratio for PAYE declined marginally to 4.6 
percent in 2013 from 4.7 percent recorded in 2012 (See 
Table 7). 

The trend of tax revenue to GDP over the last 19 years is 
depicted in Figure 14. Over this period, the ratio has 
averaged 17.7 percent and peaked in 2011 at 20.2 
percent, inclusive of mining tax arrears. When the mining 
tax arrears are excluded from the 2011 tax revenue the 
tax revenue to GDP ratio is 18.4 percent.   

Trend in Collection of individual Tax Types and Total 
Revenue 

Figures 15 to 22 provide an overview of the performance 
of individual tax types and total revenue from 1995 to 
2013 against the GDP based on 1994 constant prices. 
For all the tax types, there is a gradual and consistent 
growth in collections since 1995. This sustained increase 
in revenue collection reflects the effectiveness of the 
Authority's collection strategies and administrative 
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systems. It also reflects the improvement in the 
Authority's overall compliance and enforcement 
strategies. The growth in the overall tax system as 
depicted in Figure 22 shows how the revenue system has 
remained buoyant and continues to respond positively to 
growth in the economy.

Figure 15: Company Income Tax as percentage of 
GDP, 1995 – 2013

Figure 17: Withholding Tax as percentage of GDP, 
1995 – 2013

Figure 18: Value Added Tax as percentage of GDP, 
1995 – 2013

Figure 19: Mineral Royalty as percentage of GDP, 
1995 – 2013

Figure 20: Excise Duties as percentage of GDP, 1995 – 2013

Figure 21: Import Tariffs as percentage of GDP, 1995 – 2013

Figure 22: Tax Revenue (K' millions) 1995 – 2013
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Debt Management-Domestic Taxes 

The total debt stock at the end of 2013 was K8, 496.62 
million for the major tax types, and K53. 64 million for 
presumptive taxes (turnover tax). The debt stock 
increased by 51 per cent to K8, 496.62 million in 2013 
from K5, 611.80 million in 2012. Company tax has the 
largest debt stock of K5, 813.04 million followed by 
domestic VAT at K901.85 million, self-employed 
individuals at K812.84 million and PAYE at K641.45 
million. Mineral Royalty and Back Duty also registered 
significant increases in debt stock compared to 2012 
(see Table 8 below). 

 

 

Table 8: Trend in domestic debt accumulation, 
2009 - 2013 (K' millions)

Performance of Operating Divisions

Customs Services Division 

In 2013, the Authority continued to pursue strategies 
aimed at facilitating trade by improving the management 
and processing of customs declarations and risk 
management and profiling. 

Customs Declarations
The customs registration to assessment conversion ratio 
indicates the volume of declared customs registrations 
that reach the assessment stage of the revenue 
collection process. In the review period, 98.7 percent of 
the total transactions were assessed compared to 97.4 
percent in 2012. This increase can be attributed to the 
improved ICT infrastructure through the connection of 
major stations such as Nakonde to optic fibre as well as 
the increased staff numbers. This is despite the number 
of entries increasing during the year under review (see 
Table 9 and Figure 23).

 

Table 9: Registration to Assessment Conversion
 Ratio for all transactions 2013 and 2012

Year  Assessed  Registered 
but not 

assessed  

Total  Percentage 
assessed

Percentage 
registered 

but not 
assessed

2013  695,812  8,900  704,712  98.7% 1.3%

2012  611,210  16,478  627,688  97.4% 2.6%

Figure 23: Import and Export Entries 2013 and 2012

Duty Drawback Scheme

In line with the Government's  Policy of making exports 
competitive, the Authority administers a Duty Drawback 
Scheme which enables local manufacturers to claim back 
a proportion of duties paid on inputs used in the 
manufacture of goods, for the export market. The 
Authority also administers other customs refunds arising 
from claims on import and export transactions.

Between 2012 and 2013, the numbers of duty drawback 
applications decreased by 5.7 percent while the value of 
claims increased by 33.7 percent. Furthermore, the 
number of general refund claims decreased by 39.4 
percent with a corresponding reduction in the value of 
refund claims of 10.5 percent (see Table 10).

Table 10: Number, Value of Duty Drawback applications 
and General Refunds in 2013 and 2012

 

Duty Drawback Refunds  2013  
 

2012 Percentage 
Variance

Number of applications  351  372 (5.7)%

Value of applications (K’ mn)  109.0  82.0 33.7%

Value of processed applications (K’ mn)  97.1  77.0 25.4%

Value of payments (K’ mn)  79.3  69.0 15.3%

  
General Refunds   
Number of claims  383  632 (39.4)%

Value of claims (K’ mn) 18.8 21.0 (10.5)%

Value of processed claims (K’ mn) 18.8 21.0 (10.5)%

Value of payments (K’ mn) 14.5 21.0 (30.9)%

Direct Import and Export Declarations

During the year under review, the number of import 
entries increased by 9.2 percent to 320,922 entries in 
2013 from 293, 970 in 2012 while Value for Duty 
Purposes (VDP) increased by 114.0 percent over the 
same period. However, the number of export entries 
lodged registered a reduction of 7.2 percent to 120,862 
entries in 2013 from 130,202 entries in 2012 while the 
VDP increased by 15 percent over the same period (see 
Table 11).
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 Tax Type  2009  2010  2011  2012 2013

Company Tax  1,182.0  717.0  949.4  3,319.1 5,813.0

Back Duty  8.0  17.0   -   - 287.2

Self Employed  16.0  123.0  11.1  - 812.8

PAYE  819.0  490.7  1,786.1  1,605.0 641.4

Domestic VAT  1,167.0  2,107.0  2,049.6  687.7 901.9

Mineral Royalty   -   0.7  53.3  0.0 40.3

Total  3,192.0  3,455.4  4,849.5  5,611.8 8,496.6 

 



Table 11: Entries of Permanent Imports and 
Permanent Exports in 2013 and 2012

  

 2013  2012 Percentage 
Variance

Number of Import Entries Lodged  320,922  293,970 9.2%

Value of Import Entries Lodged (K million)  91,877  42,931 114.0%

Number of Export Entries Lodged  120,862  130,202 (7.2)%

Value of Export Entries Lodged (K million) 92,688 80,625 15.0%

NB: Data does not include transactions processed 
under ASYCUDAWorld

Processing Efficiency

Processing efficiency as measured by the actual revenue 
collected against the potential revenue was recorded at 
95.9 percent in 2013 compared to 96.3 percent in 2012. 
Specifically, the potential revenue in the period under 
review amounted to K10, 427.5 million out of which K9, 
994.4 million was collected.  A further K145.4 million or 
1.4 percent was registered and assessed but not paid 
while K287.8 million or 2.8 percent was not assessed and 
therefore no collections were made.

The failure to collect K145.4 million arising from 
assessments in the period under review and the delay in 
converting registrations worth K287.8 million in taxes to 
assessments negatively impacted the net revenue 
outturn. The occasional ASYCUDA ++ connectivity 
failures that occurred in some of the stations during the 
period under review affected processing efficiency and 
ultimately the collection of additional revenue. (see Table 
12).

Table 12: Processing efficiency in tax yield from all 
taxable transactions in 2013 and 2012 (K 'million)

Year  Un-
assessed 
taxes  

Registered 
but not 

assessed  

Registered, 
assessed and 

paid  

Total 
collectable 

amount

Percentage 
un-assessed

Percentage 
unpaid

Percentage 
receipted

2013
 

287.8
 

145.4
 

9,994.4
 

10,427.5 2.8% 1.4% 95.9%

2012 73.0 270.0 9, 014.0 9, 357.0 0.8% 2.9% 96.3%

Risk Profiling Analysis

During the period under review, the Division applied risk 
management techniques in the processing of imports 
and exports to select entry declarations for different 
levels of scrutiny to allow for effective and efficient 
utilization of resources. 

Using these techniques, 37.7 percent of the transactions 
were channelled to the green lane, hence were not 
subjected to any scrutiny, while 8.9 percent were 
channelled to the blue lane requiring post clearance 
audits. A further 30.4 percent were channelled to the 
yellow lane requiring documentary checks while the 
remaining 23.0 percent were subjected to physical 
inspection under the red lane. 

An analysis of the VDP, by lane, for the same period 
indicates that the highest VDP, by lane, stood at K130, 

522 million or 38.7 percent and was processed under the 
green lane while K127, 958 million or 37.9 percent was 
processed under the yellow lane.

On the other hand, the tax yield, by lane, for the same 
period indicates that the highest yield lane was the yellow 
lane which accounted for 41.4 percent or K4, 146 million 
of the total trade tax yield. This was followed by the green 
lane which accounted for 30.6 percent or K3, 067 million 
(see Tables 13 and 14).

Table 13: 2013 Lane Analysis with VDP

 

 Count   Value for Duty Purposes (K’mn)

Lane  Green  Blue  Yellow  Red  Total Green Blue Yellow Red Total

Total 259,269 61,128 208,830 157,687 686,914 130,522 26,668 127,958 52,251 337,399

Percentage 37.7% 8.9% 30.4% 23.0% 100.0% 38.7% 7.9% 37.9% 15.5% 100.0%

Table 14: 2013 Lane Analysis Tax Yield for Assessed, 
Receipted Transactions

 Count   Tax Yield (K’mn)

Lane  Green  Blue  Yellow  Red  Total  Green Blue Yellow Red Total

Total  259,269  61,128  208,830  157,687  686,914  3,067 1,000 4,146 1,802 10,015

Percentage 37.7% 8.9% 30.4% 23.0% 100.0% 30.6% 10.0% 41.4% 18.0% 100.0%

Domestic Taxes Division 

The Authority administers a self-assessment tax regime 
for all domestic taxes whereby taxpayers are expected to 
assess their own tax liability, file tax returns and remit the 
correct amount of tax due. The self-assessment system 
of tax administration presupposes the implementation of 
measures that ensure that taxpayers submit complete 
and correct tax returns voluntarily, as and when they 
become due. Therefore, return filing and processing, debt 
management and tax audits are critical in the 
administration of domestic taxes.

Return Filing 

The total number of active registered taxpayers during 
the year under review stood at 134, 133 compared to 85, 
694 in 2012. The number of active taxpayers under 
income tax, PAYE, and VAT was recorded at 95,513; 24, 
399; and 14, 221 respectively compared to 82, 622; 16, 
822; and 9 295 respectively, in 2012.

The Authority received 119, 283 tax returns compared to 
134, 810 tax returns, in 2012 representing a decrease of 
11.5 percent. The decrease in the number of tax returns 
filed across all tax types was significant under VAT. The 
number of income tax returns submitted in 2013 
decreased to 30, 967 from 34, 299 returns in 2012 
representing a decrease of 9.7 percent. With regard to 
VAT returns, the number submitted in 2013 decreased to 
88, 316 from 100, 511 in 2012 representing a decrease of 
12.1 percent (see Tables 15 and 16). 
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For VAT refunds, 7, 003 refunds were processed out of 8, 
027 applications, representing a processing efficiency of 
87.2 percent compared to 2012 when 5, 371 refunds were 
processed out of 9, 209 applications, representing a 
processing efficiency of 58.3 percent (see Table 16).

Table 15: Income Tax Return Statistics

 2013  2012

Number of returns submitted  
Company tax

 
5,805

 
7,125

Employed Individuals
 

0*
  

255

Self-employed individuals
 

2115
 

2,658

PAYE for individuals

 
5,659

 
8,673

Withholding tax

 

11,602

 

11,100

Property Transfer Tax

 

4,484

 

3,718

Mineral Royalty

 

1,302

 

770

Total number of returns submitted

 

30,967

 

34,299

Number of refund applications

 
PAYE for individuals 14, 685 16,003

Value of refunds paid (K’ million)

PAYE for individuals 29.3 39.4

It is worth noting that the number of returns submitted for 
PAYE and company income tax declined in 2013 
compared to 2012. For PAYE, the decline is attributed to 
adjustments in the PAYE tax bands that resulted in most 
of the employees in the small and medium sector fall out 
of the taxable bracket. This scenario resulted in a 
number of businesses inadvertently not filing returns. 
The Authority engaged the businesses on the need to 
file returns even where no tax is payable.

A similar reduction in return filing for company tax was 
observed after the VAT registration threshold was raised 
from K200, 000 to K800, 000 as businesses below this 
threshold were registered under turnover tax.

Table 16: VAT Return Statistics

  

 2013  2012

Number of returns submitted  

Payment returns  47,212   59,174

Nil returns  33,077   32,982

Repayment (claims) returns  8,027    8,355

Total  88,316  100,511

Value of returns submitted (K’ million)  

Payment returns   4,706.4

Nil returns  0  0

Repayment (claims) returns  (6,081.93)  (5,505.0)
  

Number of Refund Applications  

Number of Refund Applications  8,027  9,209

Number of Refunds Processed  7,003  5,371

Value of Refunds Paid (K’ million) (3,697.60) (4,998.0)

Domestic Tax Audit Performance

Tax audit is one of the key enforcement tools the Authority 
uses in ensuring that there is compliance with the tax laws 
of the country. An effective tax audit system is cardinal in 
improving voluntary compliance and consequently 
revenue collection. Table 17 depicts the number of audits 
conducted and the value of associated taxes collected in 
2013. The number of audits refers to audits conducted in 
all the three offices across the tax types while the value of 
audits refers to both total taxes collected and deferred 
taxes across the tax types in all the three offices. 

During the year under review, the number of audits 
conducted declined by 35.6 per cent to 6,593 in 2013 from 
10,244 in 2012. The Large Taxpayer Office (LTO), 
Medium Taxpayer Office (MTO) and Small Taxpayer 
Office (STO) accounted for 843 audits, 2,514 audits and 
3,236 audits, respectively. 

   

Large Tax Office  

Tax of 
Audit  

Number of 
audits  

Tax collected  
 (K’ Million)  

Deferred 
(K’ Million)

Total 
(K’ Million)

Penalties
(K’ Million)

Income 
tax  355  7,068.5  1,029.3 8,097.8 435.0

PAYE  109  142.7  0.5 143.2 301.9

VAT  366  11,859.3  39.2 11,898.5 844.4

Integrated  13  227.6  265.9 493.5 221.7

Sub Total  843  19,298.2  1,334.8 20,633.0 1,803.0
  

Medium Tax Office  

Tax of 
Audit  

Number of 
audits  

Tax collected  

(K’ Million)  
Deferred 

(K’ Million)
Total 

(K’ Million)
Penalties 

(K’ Million)

Income 
tax  71  3.4  0.0 3.4 1.1

PAYE  
67  1.6  0.0 1.6 0.9

VAT
 

2,326
 

124.9
 

5.9 130.8 1.4

Integrated 50 1.9 0.0 1.9 0.7

Sub Total 2,514 131.9 5.9 137.8 4.1

Small Tax Office

Tax of 
Audit

Number of 
audits

Tax collected 
(K’ Million)

Deferred 
(K’ Million)

Total 
(K’ Million)

Penalties 
(K’ Million)

Income 
tax

3,227 3.4 0.0 3.4 5.7

PAYE 9 2.5 0.0 2.5 3.4

VAT 0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Integrated 0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0

Sub Total 3,236 5.9 0.0 5.9 9.2

Grand 
Total

6,593 19435.9 1340.7 20776.6 1816.3

Table 17: Number of audits and tax collected in 2013
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In terms of value, a total of K20, 776 million in taxes was 
assessed, that is K20, 632 million; K137, 000 and K6, 
000 from LTO, MTO and STO, respectively. The amount 
assessed in 2013 represented an unprecedented 
increase from K303.6 million assessed in 2012 to K20, 
776 million in 2013 largely owing to strict enforcement of 
proof of export requirements under rule 18 of the VAT Act, 
as well as a significant rise in amounts from estimated 
assessments for failure to submit returns. Another 
reason for the increase is assessments arising from 
irregularities in capital allowance claims.

Furthermore, the Authority charged penalties amounting 
to K1, 816 million in the same period for non-compliance 
with tax regulations. The bulk of the penalties were 
attributable to the LTO, accounting for 99.3 percent of the 
total.  
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Compliance Initiatives that 
Support Revenue Collection

Compliance 

Enhancing tax compliance amongst the tax paying 
community remained a key activity of the Authority in 
2013. Compliance initiatives undertaken during the year 
included: the - 

·implementation of the Block Management 
System (BMS) to improve compliance among 
SMEs and the informal sector in general so as to 
enhance revenue and broaden the tax base;

·operationalisation of the recommendations 
under the SME taxation Strategy in 
collaboration with GIZ, by training trainers in 
In ternat ional  Standards in  Industr ia l  
Classification (ISIC). The training is a step 
towards the harmonisation of ZRA data with 
CSO classification standards aimed at sector 
prioritisation for SME taxation; 

·segmentation of taxpayer education and 
advisory services including the enhancement of 
the ZRA website and Call Centre;   

·undertaking a Taxpayer Perception Survey 
under the auspices of GIZ, aimed at improving 
ZRA service delivery; and 

·launch of TaxOnline and ASYCUDAWorld tax 
administration systems to reduce compliance 
costs for taxpayers, thereby enhancing revenue 
collection.

Tax Registration

During the year under review, the Authority continued 
with its tax registration activity. In this regard, a total of 41, 
033 Taxpayer Identification Numbers (TPIN) were issued 
during the year compared to 42, 900 issued in 2012. The 
requirement that whoever deals with the Authority must 
have a TPIN has led to a sharp increase in the number of 
TPIN registrations over the years. (see Figure 24) 

In 2013,  the TPIN Register stood at 236, 079 out of which 
134, 133 were active compared to 227,037 out of which 
85 694 were active in 2012. In the  TPIN Register, income 
tax accounted for 159, 541, out of which 95, 513 who 
were registered were active, while VAT accounted for 36, 
310 out of which 14, 221 who were registered were 
active. PAYE accounted for 40, 228 out of which 24, 399 
were active. A total of 1, 869 TPINs were de-registered  
during the year down from 4, 435 TPINs deregistered in 
2012. Of those deregistered, 484 were under income tax, 
1, 210 were under VAT while 175 were under PAYE. 
During the same period, a total of 21, 302 TPINs were 
pending de-registration. 

 

Figure 24: Number of TPIN Registrations 2009-2013

The Authority also registered taxpayers in various tax 
types during the year under review. A total of 17, 522 
taxpayers were registered for various income taxes in 
2013 compared to 14, 960 registered in 2012 while 2,601 
taxpayers where registered for PAYE compared to 1, 763 
in 2012. Meanwhile, 1, 899 taxpayers were registered for 
VAT compared to 1, 476 registered in 2012 (see Figure 
25). 

Figure 25: Registrations by Tax Type in 2013 and 2012

Taxpayer Education and Advisory Services 

In line with the taxpayer education strategy, the Authority 
engaged in strengthening stakeholder relations by 
meeting various associations such as the Zambia  
Chamber of Small and Medium Business Associations, 
National Arts Council, Surveyors Institute of Zambia, 
Kafue Business District and Motor Car Dealers.

The Authority participated fully in all national and some 
provincial Trade and Agricultural Shows where taxpayer 
education and registration was undertaken.  In addition, 
the Authority used both print and electronic media to 
provide tax information to taxpayers. Furthermore, the 
Authority ran educational programmes on both national 
and community radio stations with the radio programmes 
receiving overwhelming response.

Another facility that was highly utilised to interact with 
taxpayers was the email based advisory service.  The 
Call Centre was equally effective in providing advisory 
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services to taxpayers. The Call Centre has received 
overwhelming response since the roll out of TaxOnline 
and ASYCUDAWorld.  
 
The ZRA website which was also one of the tools used for 
taxpayer education received a new face during the year, 
enabling taxpayers to access e-services and download 
tax information and related documents. Table 18 shows 
the number of outreach programmes that were 
conducted in 2013.

Table 18: Number of Taxpayer Outreach 
Programmes in 2013

Outreach Activity Number 
conducted 

Lectures
 

16
 

Tax presentations to stakeholders
 

14
 

Tax clinics

 

4

 

Radio programmes

 

48

 

Door to door campaigns

 

1

 

 

In 2013, a total of 92,976 taxpayers contacted the 
Authority through the Advice Centre for the purpose of 
seeking clarification and other services on tax matters. 
The modes of contact were: walk-ins, telephone, email 
and letters. As depicted in Figure 26, the majority of 
taxpayers seek services in person, followed by those who 
use telephone and email. The use of letters was the least 
used mode of contact. 

Figure 26: Taxpayer contact with Advice Centre in 2013

The use of the telephone, as a means of interacting with 
the Authority,  is gradually becoming popular due to the 
commissioning of the Call Centre.  The launch of the two 
online systems has given rise to the Call Centre being 
used to full capacity and the incoming calls are now 
continuous. However, once the systems stabilise we 
expect the walk-ins to reduce and therefore decongest 
the office.

Enhancing Staff Skills 

The Authority committed significant resources to capacity 
building, focusing on the different training needs of our 
staff in order to create a workforce that is multi-skilled and 
committed to meeting the Authority's mandate. These 
efforts resulted in the successful implementation of 
several training programmes in which members of staff 
were trained in specialised areas such as Change 
Management, TaxOnline and ASYCUDAWorld.  

Non-Compliance and Prosecution Outcomes 

The Authority administers a self-assessment tax regime 
for all domestic taxes whereby taxpayers are expected to 
assess their own tax liability and remit the correct amount 
of tax due. The self-assessment system is fundamentally 
premised on the presumption that taxpayers know their 
sources of income and the accompanying legal obligation 
to correctly determine their own tax liability. From the tax 
administration point of view, the self-assessment system 
presupposes the  implementation of measures that 
ensure high levels of compliance. It is in this regard that 
the Authority stepped up its compliance initiatives of 
monitoring transactions and activities of all taxpayers at 
all times to detect non-compliance. Where non-
compliance was established, thorough investigations 
were conducted leading to prosecution. 

Investigations

The Investigations Department  which is responsible for 
investigations and prosecutions continued to partner with 
other law enforcement agencies such as Zambia Police, 
ACC and DEC to improve the quality of investigations on 
tax-related offences. In this regard, a total of 180 cases 
were investigated during the year under review compared 
to 120 cases in 2012, representing an increase of 50 
percent. Out of the 180 cases, 113 were investigated 
under the Customs Services Division while 67 were 
investigated under the Domestic Taxes Division. Overall, 
35 cases were completed and concluded. From these 
investigations, a total of K159 million was assessed, in 
2013, compared to K24 million, in 2012,  representing an 
increase of 562 percent. 

Mobile Compliance Enforcement Activities

During the year under review, the Authority's Mobile 
Compliance Unit (MCU) remained active and collected a 
total of K6.4 million from their interventions. This 
represented an increase of 321percent in revenue 
collected compared to 2012. 

A comparison in the number of consignments intercepted 
shows an increase of 188 percent when compared with 
2012. In value terms, there is an increase of 684 percent. 
The increase in the number and value of post-importation 
interventions as well as the resultant revenue is attributed 
to the enhanced enforcement operations throughout the 
country, in 2013. The major cases encountered by the 
MCU in the review period related to under-valuation, 
under-declaration, wrong tariff classification and 
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smuggling of various commodities, including liquor and 
motor vehicles. 

All the enforcement and compliance activities that were 
undertaken at various ports relied on risk based 
approaches and random inspections, mainly through 
road blocks and follow ups on intelligence alerts received 
from various stakeholders. Compliance visits of bonded 
warehouses and Customs Areas for inland ports were 
also conducted.
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Managing Public Confidence 

Professional Excellence and Staff Integrity

During the year under review, the ZRA Integrity 
Committee conducted awareness workshops for various 
stakeholders. The stakeholders were sensitised on 
various integrity programmes being implemented by the 
Authority and the Authority's stance of a “Zero Tolerance 
to Corruption”.  Four integrity awareness workshops for 
stakeholders were conducted in collaboration with the 
Department of Immigration, the Road Transport and 
Safety Agency (RTSA), Zambia Police Service and the 
ACC. The workshops were held in Chililabombwe, 
Solwezi, Chipata and Katete. 

According to the 2012 Zambia Bribe Payers Index which 
was released in 2013, ZRA improved its aggregate score 
regarding the likelihood of taxpayers encountering a 
corruption incident when seeking a service from ZRA 
from 12 percent, in 2009,  to 8.9 percent, in 2012.

The Authority and Taxpayers 

Another way the Authority manages public confidence is 
through the Taxpayer Charter which sets out the service 
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standards. The Charter is a public document which is 
accessible by all and is evaluated publicly through 
quarterly reports which are published in the national 
media.  Consequently, the Charter serves as a tool for the 
continuous monitoring and evaluation of the Authority's 
service delivery to clients which enables them to hold the 
Authority accountable. The Charter also spells out the 
obligations of the taxpayer.

Minimising Compliance Costs 

In conjunction with GIZ the Authority conducted a survey 
to gather taxpayer perceptions on service delivery and  on 
the conduct of ZRA Officers in their interaction with 
taxpayers. The aim of the survey was to uncover 
challenges that taxpayers face with a view to developing 
strategies aimed at reducing the cost of doing business, 
which in turn are intended to  induce public confidence 
and improve voluntary compliance. The survey report was 
finalised and the recommendations in the report will be 
evaluated for possible implementation. 

 





Corporate Governance 

In 2013, the Authority continued to streamline its 
corporate governance structure and utilised the risk 
management framework with the aim of instilling public 
confidence and trust of its stakeholders. 

Corporate Governance Approach

In 2013, the Authority developed a draft Corporate 
Governance Policy which is expected to be finalised in 
2014.
  
Risk Management 

For a number of years, the risk management process, 
within the Authority,  has been applied in profiling 
taxpayers and the management of new projects. In 2013, 
the Authority continued to make efforts aimed at 
widening the application of the risk management process 
to cover more operational functions. In this respect, the 
most consequential and likely risks facing the Authority 
were incorporated into the Annual Action Plans for 
immediate implementation of preferred treatment 
options. There were also risks that called for active 
monitoring rather than immediate implementation of 
treatment options. For those, Key Risk Indicators were 
developed to facilitate regular monitoring and reporting. 

Figure 27a: Implementation of the Corporate 
Plan as at end of December 2013

Figure 27b: Implementation by Strategic 
Objective as at end of December 2013

The Corporate Strategic Plan 

The Authority has in place a Corporate Strategic Plan 
(CSP) that specifies the organisation's strategic direction. 
The Annual Divisional/Departmental Action Plans enable 
the Commissioner General to realise the Authority's 
strategic vision. 

In 2013, the Authority's Strategic Management Cycle 
(SMC) was realigned with the Zambia National Economic 
Management Cycle to facilitate better integration with the 
national budgetary process. 

A s  a  w a y  o f  o p e r a t i o n a l i s i n g  t h e  C S P,  
d iv is ions/depar tments  deve lop the i r  Annual  
Divisional/Departmental Action Plans. The Annual 
Divisional/Departmental Action Plans are very critical as 
they provide activities on the basis of which resource 
allocation is done. The performance of Annual Divisional 
Action Plans is monitored on a monthly and quarterly 
basis and reports are submitted to the Governing Board.

In the year under review, the Authority fully implemented 
26.1 percent of the planned corporate actions while 73.9 
percent and 0 percent of the planned actions were 
partially implemented and not implemented, respectively 
(see Figures 27a and 27b). 
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Strategic Objective 4 (to develop and improve 
infrastructure) had the highest number of actions that 
were fully implemented at 50 percent followed by 
Strategic Objective 2 (to enhance operational efficiency 
and service delivery) at 40% and Strategic Objective 3 
(to enhance professionalism and productivity of the 
workforce), at 13 percent. Meanwhile, Strategic 
Objective 1 (to optimise revenue collection) had no 
planned actions that were fully implemented and 100% 
of  the planned corporate actions were partially 
implemented. 

Divisional and Departmental Functions 

The Authority has two operating divisions which are the 
Customs Services Division and Domestic Taxes 
Division. In carrying out their mandates, these two 
divisions are supported by the following divisions and 
departments: the Corporate Services Division; the 
Finance Division; the Human Resource Department; the 
Research and Planning Department; the Project 
Management Department; the Internal Audit 
Department; the Investigations Department; and the 
Information Technology Department. 
Below is a summary of the functions of all the Divisions 
and Departments.

Customs Services

The Division is mandated to administer the Customs and 
Excise Act, Chapter 322 of the Laws of Zambia. The 
Division imposes, collects, and manages customs, 
excise and other duties. In addition, the Division licenses 
and controls warehouses and premises for the storage 
and manufacture of certain goods. Further, the Division 
regulates, controls and prohibits imports and exports in 
line with the Control of Goods Act – Chapter 421 of the 
Laws of  Zambia. The Division also oversees the 
conclusion of customs and trade agreements with other 
countries.

Domestic Taxes

The Division is responsible for the administration and 
collection of all domestic taxes apart from domestic 
excise duty, which is collected by the Customs Services 
Division. The Division administers the Income Tax Act, 
Chapter 323 of the Laws of Zambia; the Value Added Tax 
Act, Chapter 331 of the Laws of Zambia; the Property 
Transfer Tax Act, Chapter 340 of the Laws of Zambia; 
and the Medical Levy Act, No. 6 of 2003 (repealed in 
2013). Additionally, the Division collects mineral royalty 
pursuant to the Mines and Minerals Development Act, 
No. 7 of 2008. 

Corporate Services

The Division is responsible for, among other things: the 
procurement and supply of  goods and services; the 
maintenance and development of infrastructure; 
transport and security; general administration; legal 
affairs and the Board secretarial function.

Human Resource

The Department is responsible for developing and 
implementing Human Resource strategies and policies 
and for providing the general human resource support 
service in terms of resourcing, staff development, 
compensation and staff welfare needed to implement the 
broad ZRA strategies and policies in order to achieve the 
Authority's overall mandate of revenue collection through 
its human resource.

Research and Planning

The Research and Planning Department is charged with 
the responsibility of developing research and planning 
capabilities and analysis to aid the design and 
implementation of enforcement and compliance 
strategies in the Authority. It coordinates taxpayer 
educa t ion  p rogrammes and  the  corpora te  
communication function. Additionally, the Department 
spearheads the development and implementation of 
business continuity planning as well as organisation-wide 
risk management.

The Department also monitors and reports on the overall 
organisational performance of the Authority for the 
benefit of all stakeholders.

Finance 

The Division is mandated to provide business financial 
solutions consistently through integrated financial and 
business systems. The Division has two units namely; 
Treasury and Accounting. The Treasury Unit facilitates 
the collection and accounting of Government revenue 
while the Accounting Unit is responsible for the 
management of the funds received from the central 
Government, for the operations of the Authority.

Internal Audit 

The Internal Audit Department provides assurance to 
management and the Audit Committee of the Governing 
Board on the effectiveness and reliability of internal 
control, risk management and governance processes 
within the Authority. In addition, the Department is 
responsible for continuously evaluating the efficiency, 
effectiveness and economical use of resources in the 
Authority's business operations, projects and 
programmes as well as ensuring that its assets are 
safeguarded.

The Department follows up and assesses, on a regular 
basis, the level of implementation of its various 
recommendations agreed in prior audit reports and also 
coordinates the resolution of queries and implementation 
of recommendations from external audit functions such 
as the Auditor General's Office. 

Project Management

The Project Management Department is the custodian of 
the Project Management Framework, in ZRA. It supports 
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project needs within the Authority in order to allow for 
efficiency and effectiveness in project implementation. 
The Department offers expertise and coordination in the 
management of projects within the Authority. Support 
includes advice on the use of project management tools, 
guidance and administrative services such as efficient 
project documentation  and the collection of progress 
data on projects. The Department also acts as a 
repository for all project templates, frameworks and 
Project documents for closed and existing projects.

Information Technology

The Department is responsible for the provision of ICT 
systems that support the operations of the Authority. This 
includes developing and implementing ICT strategies 
that assist the Authority to achieve its mandate of 
optimising revenue collection. It also strengthens 
existing information systems to enhance efficiency, co-
ordination  and the  integration of business systems. 
Furthermore, the Department is responsible for 
modernising existing communication systems and 
facilitates linkages to the outside world.

Investigations 

The Investigations Department is mandated to 
investigate suspected offences under the Customs and 
Excise, Income Tax, Value Added Tax and other related 
Acts, based on intelligence leads, random and risk based 
enforcement operations with a view to  prosecuting 
offenders, thereby enhancing tax compliance.

Internal Affairs

The Internal Affairs Unit investigates cases of employee 
misconduct such as corruption, fraud and other 
malpractices in order to preserve the corporate integrity 
of the Authority. In the execution of its mandate, the Unit 
collaborates with the Zambia Police Service, the Drug 
Enforcement Commission and the Anti-Corruption 
Commission as some cases require prosecution in 
courts of law. 

Internal and External Scrutiny

Internal Scrutiny 

Internal Audit 

During the year, the Internal Audit Department undertook 
54 process audits and 1 special review, out of which 28 
were conducted as follow up audits to determine the 
implementation status of audit issues identified in 
previous audits. Out of the 54 process audits conducted, 
30 were finalised and reports submitted to the Audit 
Committee of the Governing Board while 17 were at the 
draft report stage awaiting comments from the various 
levels of divisional or departmetal  management.  In 
addition,  to the 54 process audits conducted during the 
year, the Department finalised and submitted 31 reports 
for audits carried forward from 2012, bringing the total 
number of reports tabled before the Audit Committee in 
2013 to 61. (see Table 19)

Table 19: Audits and investigations undertaken 
in 2013 and 2012

Audits and Investigations  2013 2012

Number of process audits  54 64
Number of process audits finalised  30 38

Number of 2012 Audits finalised in 2013  31 0
Number of special reviews and investigations undertaken 1 2

Number of special reviews and investigations finalised  0 1

 

Internal Affairs

During the year, the Internal Affairs Unit, which is 
mandated to investigate all matters pertaining to 
corruption, fraud and other malpractices involving the 
Authority's employees, recorded 57 cases of fraud and 
misconduct compared to 49 in 2012 (see Table 20).

Table 20: Cases of fraud and misconduct 
by employees in 2013 and 2012

Type of offence  2013  2012

Fraud  13  18
Code of Conduct (breach of)  06  11
Theft  00  05

Bribery  21  10
Abetting smuggling

 
05

 
05

Other
 

12
 

0

Total cases investigated 57 49

There was an increase in the number of cases that the 
Unit investigated in 2013 largely on account of improved 
intelligence strategy which led to improved liaison with 
other law enforcement agencies and exchange of 
intelligence information. 

The leading cases of misconduct were those of bribery 
and fraud which accounted for 37 percent and 23 percent, 
respectively. There was an increase in the number of 
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cases involving bribery during the year. However, there 
was a slight reduction in the number of cases of thefts 
and breaches of the Code of Conduct. 

Of the total cases recorded in 2013; eighteen (18) cases 
were taken for disciplinary hearing; six (6) cases resulted 
in dismissals; while one (1) resulted in an acquittal.  Eight 
(8) cases were yet to be tabled, two (2) were pending 
ruling/ decision by the Disciplinary Committee and 
another one (1) was referred back to Internal Affairs for 
further investigation. 

A further eight (8) cases were referred for th ecollection of 
taxes, eight (8) for deregistration /blocking of clearing 
agents and five (5) for possible prosecution. 

Staff Integrity 

The Integrity Committee continued to receive client 
feedback through its Secretariat. The modes used for 
submissions were by way of suggestion boxes placed at 
various ZRA stations, letters, email and telephone (see 
Table 21).

Table 21: Number of Complaints and Comments 
Received by ZRAIC

Year  Complaints  Comments  Total  

2013  29  39  68  

2012  56  44  100  

 
During the year under review, the number of comments 
and complaints reduced to 68 from 100 in 2012 
representing a reduction of 32 percent, suggesting that 
the Authority's strategy of reducing misconduct amongst 
staff is bearing fruit. 

Nature of Taxpayer Comments and Complaints for 2013

Table 22: Nature of Comments Received

Taxpayer Feedback No 

Compliments 2 

Information 14 

Queries 4 

Suggestions 9 

Total 29 

 

Furthermore, of the 39 complaints received in 2013, the 
majority related to alleged staff inefficiency which 
accounted for 16 or 41 percent followed by professional 
misconduct which accounted for 12 or 30.7 percent of the 
total complaints received. Allegations of tax evasion were 
3 or 7.8 percent of the total. There was one allegation of 
theft against a clearing firm.

Table 23: Type of Complaints Received

Taxpayer Complaints                    No

Inefficiency 16

Tax Evasion  3

Smuggling 3

Professional Misconduct 12

Corruption 4

Theft 1

Total 39

 
External Scrutiny 

Parliamentary Committees

As a public body, the operations of the Authority are 
subject to Parliamentary scrutiny. In this regard, during 
the year the Authority provided written responses to 
different Committees of the House and also appeared 
before various Committees, as mentioned earlier.  

Auditor General

During the year under review, the Authority responded to 
all audit queries raised by the Office of the Auditor 
General. In addition, the Auditor General conducted an 

staudit of revenue collection for the financial year ended 31  
December 2012.

Litigation

Litigation forms an important part of our compliance and 
dispute resolution programme. In 2013, the Authority was 
involved in both civil and criminal litigations in the 
Supreme Court, the High Court, the Industrial Relations 
Court and the Revenue Appeals Tribunal.

Civil Litigation

Table 24 shows the extent of the tax related litigation that 
the Authority experienced during the year under review. A 
total of 61 civil cases were before courts of law in 2013 
compared to 60 cases handled in 2012. The majority of 
the cases were in the High Court. The high number of 
cases before the courts could be an indication that 
taxpayers are aware of their right to seek legal redress on 
tax matters whenever they are aggrieved.

Table 24: Tax Related Litigation in 2013 and 2012
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Type of Court 2013 2012 

Magistrates Court 0 1 
High Court 36 28 
Supreme Court 3 10 
Revenue Appeals Tribunal 13 13 
Industrial relations court 9 8 
Total Cases  61 60 

 



With regard to the nature of the cases before the court, 
19 cases or 31 percent were customs and excise related 
while 17 cases or 28 percent were related to domestic 
taxes with VAT accounting for 6 cases or 10 percent.  The 
labour related and other cases accounted for the 
remainder of the cases. A total of 15 cases were 
concluded during the year out of which 14 cases were in 
favour of the Authority while 1 case was in favour of a 
taxpayer. The remaining cases were still before the 
courts as at the end of the year (see Table 25).

Table 25: Cases in various Courts by category in 2013

Criminal Litigation 

The total number of criminal cases handled increased to 
57 in 2013 from 35 in 2012.  This represents an increase 
of 62.9 percent over the period. Of these cases, three (3) 
were withdrawn, while two (2) were acquitted. The 
Authority secured four (4) convictions while another three 
(3) cases were awaiting judgement. The Authority had 
four (4) cases at trial stage as at year end, while 41 were 
settled administratively. 

It is worth noting that despite the increase in the number 
of cases handled during the year, the value of cases 
taken to court declined to K946.0 million from K3,485.4 
million in 2012 (see Table 26).

Table 26: Type of cases by tax type and values in 2013

Of the 57 cases handled during the year, Customs related 
cases  were 36.0 representing 63.2 percent of all the 
cases while Domestic Taxes cases were 21 representing 

36.8 percent. Fifty (50) of these cases were completed 
while four (4) were under trial and three (3) were pending 
judgement as at the end of the year. 

The total revenue realised from Customs cases was 
K430.0 million in 2013 compared to K1, 713.7 million in 
2012 while K516.0 million related to Domestic Taxes 
compared to K1, 771.7 million recorded in 2012. The total 
value of cases handled in 2013 was therefore K946.0 
million compared to K3,485.4 million in 2012. In matters 
where  goods that were subject of the offence were 
perishable, the  goods  were auctioned before disposal of 
the cases and revenues accrued to the Government.
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Tax Type Number 
of cases  

Number of 
Judgments 

in favour 
of ZRA 

Number of  
Judgments in 

favour of 
Taxpayers 

Customs and Excise 19 4 0 
Direct Taxes 17 3 0 
VAT 6 0 0 
Industrial Relations 
cases

17 7 1 

Others 2 0 0 
Total 61 14 1 

     

 Customs and 
Excise 2013  

Domestic 
Taxes  
2013  

Total 2013 Total 2012

Cases closed by type
 

No.
 

Value  
(K’ mn)

 

No.
 

Value  
 (K’ mn)
 

Number
 

Value  
(K’ mn)

Numbe
r

Value 
(K’ mn)

Paid 
Tax 

                                

20

 
72.0

 
21

 
516.0

 
41

 
588.0 12 2,761.7

 

Withdrawn 

 

3

 

44.0

 

0

 

0.0

 

3

 

44.0 2 30.0

 

Fine 

 

4

 

49.0

 

0

 

0.0

 

4

 

49.0 2 3.7

Acquittal

 

2

 

265.0

 

0

 

0.0

 

2

 

265.0 1 690.0

Total

 

29

 

430.0

 

21

 

516.0

 

50

 

946.0 17 3,485.4

Pending cases in 
court

 
 

    

Year end 

 

7 2,471.0 0 0.0 7 2,471.0 18 9, 250.4

Total number of cases 36 21 57 35





stThe staff complement as at 31  December 2013 stood at 
1,450 employees compared to 1, 355 in 2012, 
representing an increase of 7 percent. The increment in 
the staff complement is explained by an increase in the 
net staff complement of the Domestic Taxes Division, 
Customs Services Division, Research and Planning 
Department, Commissioner General's Office, Corporate 
Services Division, Human Resources Department, 
Finance Division, Project Management Department and 
Internal Audit Department. As was the case  in 2012,  the 
staff complement in 2013 was below the approved 
establishment of 1, 482 and accounted for 98 percent of 
the approved establishment compared to 91.4 percent in 
2012 (see Table 27). 

Table 27: ZRA staff complement by Division / 
Department /Unit as at end 2013 and 2012

Table 28 shows the ZRA staff complement broken down by 
grade and gender in 2012 and 2013. The proportion of 
female staff remained at 31 percent, the same level as the 
previous year. There wasn''t a  significant change in the 
number of employees in some grades and gender 
categories as those that left were replaced. Senior 
Management accounted for 1.3 percent of the workforce in 
2013; the  same as that in 2012. In 2013, 38 percent of the 
staff was in the technical staff category compared to 40 
percent in 2012.  Likewise, those in the middle 
management category comprised 11 percent in 2013 
compared to 11.1 percent in 2012. Support staff comprised 
49.9 percent in 2013 compared to 47.5 percent in 2012.

 

Table 28: ZRA employees by grade and gender 
in 2013 and 2012

 2013  2012

Grades  Male  Female  Male Female

Senior Management  ZRA00  1  -  1 -

Senior Management  ZRA01  1  3  1 2

Senior Management  ZRA02  12  2  10 4

Middle Management  ZRA03  31  9  29 7

Middle Management  ZRA04  90  28  91 24

Technical Staff  ZRA05  156  59  166 55

Technical Staff ZRA06  224  110  207 114

Support Staff  ZRA07  179  120  152 102

Support Staff  ZRA08  131  81  112 78

Support Staff  ZRA09  73  4  73 3

Support Staff  ZRA10  105  31  93 31

Total  1003  447  935 420

The Customs Services Division continued to be the most 
staffed followed by the Domestic Taxes Division. The 
Corporate Services Division had the largest number of 
support staff. 

People Strategy

In 2013, the Authority's people strategy still focused on 
recognising and meeting the different needs of staff in 
order to create a workforce that is skilled and committed to 
meeting the Authority's mandate both in the short and 
long-term. At the heart of our strategy is our desire to take 
advantage of the potential of our staff to collect more 
revenue by improving their Conditions of Service. As part 
of this strategy, the Human Resource Administration 
Manual is being reviewed by external consultants for 
eventual consideration and approval by the ZRA 
Governing Board. 

Workforce Design

In terms of workforce design, the Authority has a 
Resourcing Manual in place which is a guide on how ZRA 
implements its employee resourcing. The Manual was 
reviewed in 2013 to ensure that it meets the challenges of 
the competitive Human Capital resourcing demands. 

Skilling and Learning

Due to the complexity and diversity of our work, the 
Authority committed significant resources to capacity 
building which amounted to K5.2 million, in 2013. This 
resulted in the successful implementation of training 
programmes involving 1,632 employees in 2013 
compared to 1,539 in 2012. 

Table 29 shows the number of staff trained in 2013, 
classified according to gender. Overall, there was an 
increase in the number of the training programmes and 
this had an effect on the total number of employees 
trained in 2013 compared to those trained in 2012, as 
stated above. 

50

Managing People 

 2013  2012

Division / Unit
 

Actual
 

Approved
 

Actual Approved

Commissioner General’s Office
 

14
 

14
 

12 13
Domestic Taxes 

 

426

 

434

 

404 467
Customs Services 

 

541

 

560

 

514 598
Corporate Services 

 

219

 

221

 

229 214
Research and Planning

   

28

 

30

 

25 14
Human Resource 

 

27

 

27

 

24 25
Finance

1

    

81

 

77

 

119
125

Information Technology

 

57

 

58

 

Internal Audit 

 

19

 

19

 

19 19
Investigations 

 

31

 

35

 

2 1
Project Management

 

6

 

6

 

5
ZRAIC  

 

1

 

1

 

1 1

Total

 

1450

 

1482

 

1,355 1,482

 



The increase in the training activities was attributed to the 
increased focus on Change Management and 
technological developments arising from the 
modernisation of the Authority's operations. 

In terms of gender, 32.4 percent of the total employees 
trained were female. This is consistent with the 
proportion of females in the institution which stands at 
31.0 percent of the total workforce. 

Table 29: Staff Development in 2013

   

   

 

       

    

    

Type of Training  Fem
ale

Mal
e

No. of Staff 
Trained

Induction Training

 

20 60 80

Tax Inspectors Training

 

30 55 85

First Aid Training

 

8 10 18

JAVA and

 

Oracle 

 

2 3 5

Change Management

 

42 64 106

Direct VSAT System Training

 

2 3 5

Value Added Tax 2 Training 

 

10 21 31

Training of Trainers Training

 

4 16 20

Advanced Business Continuity Training

 

- 1 1

Basic Investigation Training

 

4 7 11

Investigation Training –

 

US Treasury Department

 

8 16 24

Customs Basic Course

 

12 53 65

Audit Command Training 

 

5 19 24

ASYCUDAWORLD

 

Training

 

38 75 113

Competency –

 

Based Interviewing Techniques, 
Selection and Retention Strategy 

 

1 3 4

Law Enforcement Training on the implementation of 
the Zambia Anti-Human 

 

Trafficking Act No. 11 of 2008

 

1 3 4

Monitoring and Evaluation

 

1 1 2

Focal Point Person Training in Integrity

 

11 19 30

Occupational Safety and Health and HIV/AIDS 
Workshop

 

1 1 2

Certified Risk Analyst Training

 

- 2 2

Exchange Server 2013: Migration from Exchange 
Server 2007 and 2010 Training

 

2 3 5

The Role of Internal Audit in Risk Management

 

1 3 4

Motor Bike Training

 

- 9 9

Configuring and Administering Microsoft Server 2012 
(Active Directory)

 

- 2 2

Cyber Security COBIT and Operations Risk 
Management

 

2 2 4

Website Management Training

 

- 1 1

Seminar Risk Management in Cargo Processing

 

5 23 28

Financial Institute Training 

 

9 12 21

Intermediate SPSS 

 

- 1 1

Internal Auditors Performance

 

- 2 2

Taxonline Training

 

239 488 727

Ethics Officers Certification Training

 

- 1 1

CCNP Route (CI-Route) Training  

 

- 1 1

Linus Red Hat Training

 

- 2 2

On-site Training –HP Blade Servers and NetApp 
Administration 

2 4 6

Scanner Training 12 23 35

RAC & Grid Infrastructure Administration Training  - 2 2

PAYE Course 3 9 12

Sesam Training 2 10 12

Education Refunds in various development programs 21 34 55

Human Resources – Annual General Meeting 1 1 2

Annual Conference for the Trade Union - 1 1

IIA 2013 International Conference - 1 1

Annual ZICA Business Conference 3 3 6

Annual Convention – Zambia Institute of HR 
Management

1 2 3

Total number of employees trained 515 1,1
17

1,632

Funds Allocated for 2013 5,220,973.00

Funds Spent on training 2,958,750.48

Funds Spent on meetings but impacting on the 
Training Budget

871,014.97

Total expenditure of the Budget 2013 3,829,765.45

Balance (K' Million) as at 31
st

December, 2013 1,391,207.55

Certified HR Manager Training - 1 1

Understanding Labour Laws and ILO Core 
Convention  

- 1 1

Risk Management Training 9 11 20

Strategic Staff Development

In addition to the staff development programmes outlined 
in Table 29, the Authority sent two of its senior 
management members to participate in IMF Technical 
Assistance Missions in the Sub-Saharan region and 
abroad.

Performance Management and Development 
Process
 
The Authority fully implemented the Performance 
Management and Development Contract (PMDC) 
process during  the year under review.  The results from 
Figure 28 represent the overall performance of the 
Authority. It can be seen that 26.5 percent of the 
employees exceeded performance targets while 68.2 
percent met their targets. However, 0.3 percent of the 
employees did not meet their performance targets while 
5.0 percent was made up of members of staff who were 
not rated because they were not eligible for rating. This 
shows that the majority of the employees in the Authority 
are contributing positively and effectively to the set 
objectives of the Authority.  The results are therefore 
consistent with the Authority meeting its targets

Separation

A total of 74 employees separated from the Authority 
between January 2013 and December 2013 compared to 
71 in 2012. Resignation and retirement continued to be 
the main reasons for staff turnover (see Table 30).

An analysis of exit interviews conducted  indicates that 
resignations are mainly as a result of career progression 
and better conditions of service offered elsewhere.

Table 30: Separations recorded in 2013
 Dismissal  Termination of 

Contract  
Contract 
Expiry  

Resignation Retirement Medical 
Discharge

Death Total

2013
 

7
 

10
 

5
 

20 23 0 9 74

2012
 

15
 

4
 

3
 

21 21 4 3 71
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From the 74 separations, 17 were female employees 
whereas 57 were male employees. Further classification 
shows that 17 employees were from the Management 
category while 57 were unionised employees.

Approach to HIV/AIDS 

The Authority has in place an HIV/AIDS Workplace 
Programme which consists of two core areas namely 
prevention and treatment. Under the prevention 
programme the Authority provides psycho-social 
counselling, testing and sensitisation workshops for all 
staff. Further, the provision of HIV/AIDS information is 
incorporated in the Authority's induction programmes for 
new staff members. 

During the year under review, the Authority undertook a 
number of prevention activities which included 
sensitization on HIV/AIDS, Voluntary Counselling and 
Testing, and Male Circumcision as it relates to Cancer 
and HIV/AIDS. 

Table 31: The value of major projects undertaken in 2013 (ZMW)

 

Project Name

 

Value

 

Amount 
Paid

 

Amount 
Outstanding

 

Status/Comment

 

1

 

Construction of ablution block 
at Vic Falls

 

489,167.6

 

303,924.6

 

185,243.0

 

Complete

 

2

 

Refurbishment of Vic Falls 
Border Post

 

496,847.2

 

321,498.8

 

175,348.4

 

Complete

 

3

 

Construction of passenger 
shed at Vic Falls

 

367,525.3

 

326,074.5

 

41,450.8

 

Complete

 

4

 

Construction of Bus shelter at 
Vic Falls

 

288,066.7

 

251,898.5

 

36,168.3

 

Complete

 

5

 

Construction of ablution block 
at Kazungula Border Post

 

497,753.7

 

271,022.0

 

226,731.7

 

Complete

 

6

 

Refurbishment of Kazungula 
Border Post

 
466,956.8

 

393,963.8

 

72,993.0

 

Complete

 

7

 

Construction of passenger 
shed at Kazungula Border 
Post

 367,525.3

 

330,224.2

 

37,301.1

 

Complete

 

8

 

Pallisade fencing works at 
Kazungula Border Post

 
573,507.0

 

547,057.6

 

26,449.4

 

Complete

 

9

 

Construction of 4x2 semi-
detached staff houses at 
Kazungula

 
2,788,568.2

 

1,139,535.4

 

1,649,032.8

 

On-going

 

10

 

Construction of 1x2 semi-
detached staff houses at 
Mokambo

 
773,467.7

 

154,693.5

 

618,774.2

 

On-going

 

11

 
Construction of scanning yard

 

at Kapiri Mposhi
 2,260,559.9

 
452,112.0

 
1,808,447.9

 
On-going

 

12
 

Construction  of access roads 
to scanner yard at 
Kasumbalesa Border Post

 
1,082,213.7

 
466,681.8

 
615,531.9

 
Complete

 

13
 

Construction of 5x2 semi-
detached staff houses at 
Kasumbalesa

 

3,240,000.0
 

3,172,442.5
 

67,557.6
 

Works commenced 
in 2012 and 

completed in 2013
 

14
 

Construction  of 6x2 semi-
detached houses in Nakonde

 
3,588,855.0

 
3,237,170.2

 
351,684.8

 
Works commenced 

in 2012 and 
completed in 2013 

15 Construction of 6x2 semi-
detached houses in Chirundu  

3,578,878.0 3,251,453.0 327,425.0 Works commenced 
in 2012 and 

completed in 2013 

 Total 20,859,892.1 14,619,751.2 6,240,140.9  

 

Under the treatment programme, the Authority 
implemented the voluntary CSART which provides for the 
treatment of  its members of staff that require Anti-Retro 
Viral Therapy. Membership  is open to all members of 
staff regardless of their HIV status. During the year, 
CSART had a total membership of 490 compared to 469 
in 2012. This membership represented 33.8 percent of 
the total workforce. A total of 75 members of staff and their 
families were receiving treatment on CSART compared 
to 80 in 2012, representing a decrease of 6.3 percent.

Information Technology and 
Physical Asset Management

Asset Management 

The Authority disbursed K14.6 million towards the 
refurbishment and rehabilitation of infrastructure and 
equipment at various stations (see Table 31). 
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During the year under review, the major works completed 
included the construction of semi-detached staff houses 
at Kasumbalesa, Nakonde and Chirundu Border Posts. 
Other works completed were the construction of ablution 
blocks and refurbishment of Victoria Falls Border Post, 
the construction of ablution blocks and refurbishment of 
Kazungula Border Post, palisade fencing works at 
Kazungula Border Post and the construction of access 
roads to the scanner yard at Kapiri Mposhi Customs 
Office.

The Authority spent a total of K237.3 million on the 
acquisition of new assets compared to K28.7 million in 
2012. Of this amount, K193.7 million was spent on the 
capitalisation of customs non-intrusive scanners at 
Chirundu, Chanida, Katima Mulilo and Kazungula Border 
Posts. A further K39.1 million was spent on the acquisition 
of ICT equipment, office equipment and furniture, while 
K4.5 million was spent on the purchase of new motor 
vehicles, motor cycles, a water vessel and on the repair of 
motor vehicles.

Information and Communication Technology 

The Authority prioritised the computerisation of all its tax 
administration systems with the aim of reducing the cost 
of compliance as well as enhancing revenue collection. In 
this vein, the Authority procured 40 desk top computers, 
79 laptops, 40 printers and 45 scanners.

The Authority's budget on IT related capital equipment 
increased to K14 million in 2013 from K8 million in 2012. 
The recurrent expenditure on IT related services and 
facilities was K20.4 million in 2013 compared to K10.7 
million in 2012.
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Statement of responsibilities of the Governing Board in 
respect of the preparation of the financial statements

The Governing Board is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements of 
Zambia Revenue Authority comprising the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2013, the 
statements of comprehensive income, changes in capital fund and reserves and of cash flows for  the year 
then ended, and the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory notes, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and 
the requirements of the Zambia Revenue Authority Act, Chapter 321 of the Laws of Zambia.

The Governing Board is also responsible for such internal control as it determines necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error 
and for maintaining adequate accounting records and an effective system of risk management.

The Governing Board has made an assessment of the ability of Zambia Revenue Authority to continue as a 
going concern and has no reason to believe that the Authority will not be a going concern in the year ahead.

The auditor is responsible for reporting on whether the annual financial statements are fairly presented in 
accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework.

Approval of the financial statements

The financial statements of Zambia Revenue Authority, as identified in the first paragraph were approved by 
rd

the Governing Board on 3 June 2014 and are signed on its behalf by:

……………………………… ………………………………
Director Director
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We have audited the financial statements of 
Zambia Revenue Authority (“the Authority”), which 
comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 
December 2013, and the statements of 
comprehensive income, changes in capital fund 
and reserves and cash flows for the year then 
ended, and the notes to the financial statements 
which include a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory notes as set out on 
pages 59 to 92.

The Governing Board's responsibility for the 
financial statements

The Authority's Governing Board is responsible for 
the preparation and fair presentation of these 
financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards, and 
the requirements of the Zambia Revenue Authority 
Act, Chapter 321 of the Laws of Zambia, and for 
such internal control as the Governing Board 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor's responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
financial statements based on our audit.  We 
conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing.  Those 
standards require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain 
audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements.  The procedures 
selected depend on the auditor's judgement, 

including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error.  In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers  internal control 
relevant to the entity's preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's 
internal control.  An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of accounting estimates made 
by the Governing Board, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, these financial statements present 
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
Zambia Revenue Authority as at 31 December 2013 
and its financial performance and cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with International 
Financial  Report ing Standards and the 
requirements of the Zambia Revenue Authority Act, 
Chapter 321 of the Laws of Zambia. 

KPMG Chartered Accountants 
Lusaka, Zambia

thJason Kazilimani, Jr                                16  June 2014
Partner

Independent auditor's report to the Governing Board of 
Zambia Revenue Authority 

KPMG Chartered Accountants                                                                                       Telephone: +260 211 372900
1st Floor Elunda 2
Addis Ababa Roundabout, Rhodespark                                                                             
P.O. Box 31282, Lusaka, Zambia          
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Statement of financial position 
as at 31 December 2013 

 Note 
2013 

K  
2012 

K  
Assets 
Non-current assets 

     

Property, plant and equipment  13 614,963,926  138,465,763  

Intangible assets 14 55,437,225  669,615  
Employee loans and advances 16 2,912,791  2,774,631  

Total non - current assets  673,313,942  141,910,009  

 
Current assets 

     

Cash and cash equivalents 19 125,900,339  90,871,862  

Employee loans and advances 16 6,451,580  5,871,897  

Other assets  17 30,891,956  8,942,553  
Amounts receivable from  the Government of  
the Republic of  Zambia 

 
18 

 
- 

  
8,760,607 

 

Inventories 15 1,291,622  4,060,450  
Customs deposit bank accounts 24 6,388,361  1,517,853  

Tax refunds bank accounts  25 33,278,158  37,106,124  

 
Total current assets  

  
204,202,016 

  
157,131,346 

 

 
Total assets  

  
877,515,958 

  
299,041,355 

 

 
Capital fund, reserves and liabilities 

     

Capital fund and reserves      

Capital fund  (8,221)  (110,011,775)   

Revaluation reserve  134,493,865  50,345,136  

 
 

Total capital fund and reserves liabilities  

  
 

134,485,644 

  
 

 (59,666,639) 

 

Non-current liabilities      
Borrowings 
Employee related liabilities 

22 
20 

353,687,833 
252,574,974 

 - 
277,809,974 

 

Deferred income  6 6,665,154  7,861,000  
 

Total non-current liabilities 
  

612,927,961 
  

285,670,974 
 

Current liabilities      

Bank overdraft 
Deferred income   
Investment climate facility and NTA grant  

19 
6 
5 

- 
2,002,850 
3,872,984 

 613,824 
1,779,849 

700,594 

 

Trade and other  payables 21 84,560,000  31,318,776  

Customs deposit bank accounts 24 6,388,361  1,517,853  

Tax refunds bank accounts  25 33,278,158  37,106,124  

 
Total current liabilities 

  
130,102,353 

  
73,037,020 

 

 
Total capital fund, reserves and liabili ties 

  
877,515,958 

  
299,041,355 

 

 
rdThese financial statements were approved by the Governing Board on 3  June 2014 and were signed on 

its behalf by: 

 
 
 
…………………………………… …………………………… 
Director Director 
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The notes on pages 63 to 92 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of comprehensive income 
for the year ended 31 December 2013 
 

 Note 

2013 
K 

  

 

2012 

K 

Restated  

Revenue      
Government grants 2 455,833,818  391,359,400  

Asycuda processing fees 3 54,130,834  29,922,286  

Other income 4 8,739,951  5,473,676  

Investment climate facility and NTA income  5 4,296,631  5,793,860  

Deferred income 
Commission on Kariba dam toll fees 

6 
7 

2,002,850 
8,794 

 1,779,849 
- 

 

 
Total operating income 

  
525,012,878 

  
434,329,071 

 

 
Expenditure  

     

Personnel expenses 8 (404,297,054)  (295,026,148)  

Administrative expenses 9 (41,673,827)  (32,028,366)  

Operating expenses 10 (53,547,109)  (44,835,128)  

Depreciation and amortisation 13,14 (25,532,929)  (11,192,870)  

 
Results from operating activities 

  
(38,041) 

  
51,246,559 

 

      

Finance income  4,831,636  3,900,261  

Finance costs  (457,761)  (464,108)  

 
Net finance income 

 
11 

 
4,373,875 

  
3,436,153 

 

      

Surplus for the year  4,335,834  54,682,712  

      

Other comprehensive income      

Items that will be reclassified to surplus or deficit       

Revaluation of property, plant and equipment   85,201,449  1,920,000  

      

Items that will never be reclassified to surplus or deficit       

Re-measurement of defined benefit liability / (asset)  104,615,000  (84,466,642)  

 
Total other comprehensive income for the year  

 
189,816,449 

 
(82,546,642) 

 

 
Total comprehensive income for the year  

 
194,152,283 

 
(27,863,930) 

 

 

The notes on pages 63 to 92 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Statement of changes in capital fund and reserves 
for the year ended 31 December 2013 
 

 

 

Capital fund 
K 

 

 Revaluation 
surplus 

K 
 

 
Total  

K 
 

Balance at 1 January 2012 (81,280,565)  49,477,856  (31,802,709) 

Total comprehensive income for the year       

- Surplus for the year  54,682,712  -  54,682,712 

      

Other comprehensive income: 
- Actuarial losses for the year 
- Revaluation surplus  

(84,466,642)
- 

  
- 

1,920,000 

 
(84,466,642)

1,920,000 

- Amortisation of revaluation surplus 1,052,720  (1,052,720)  - 

 
Total comprehensive loss for the year  (28,731,210)

 867,280  
(27,863,930)

      

Balance at 31 December 2012 (110,011,775)  50,345,136  (59,666,639) 

Balance at 1 January 2013  (110,011,775)
 

50,345,136 
 

(59,666,639) 

- Surplus for the year  4,335,834 - 
 

4,335,834 

      

Other comprehensive income:      

- Actuarial gains for the year  104,615,000 -  104,615,000 

- Revaluation surplus - 85,201,449 
 85,201,449 

- Amortisation of surplus 1,052,720 (1,052,720) 
 - 

Total comprehensive income for the year 110,003,554  84,148,729  194,152,283 
 

Balance at 31 December 2013  (8,221) 

 

134,493,865 

        
134,485,644 

Capital fund

The capital fund is the carried forward recognised income, net of expenses of the Authority, plus the current 
year results.

Revaluation reserve

The revaluation reserve arises from the revaluation surplus on buildings. The revaluation reserves are 
amortised to capital fund as the related assets are depreciated or disposed of.

The notes on pages 63 to 92 are an integral part of these financial statements.



Statement of cash flows 
for the year ended 31 December 2013 

 

Note 
 

2013 

K 

 2012 

K 

Cash flows from operating activities     

Surplus for the year   4,335,834  54,682,712 

Adjusted for:      

 
Amortisation of investment climate facility and NTA grants 

 
5 (4,296,631) 

 
(5,793,860) 

Amortisation of capital grant 6 (2,002,850)  (1,779,849) 

Depreciation and amortisation 13, 14 25,532,929  11,192,870 

Profit on sale of equipment  -     (121,830) 

Net finance income 11 (4,373,875)  (3,436,153) 

Employee related expenses 20 87,696,000  53,389,763 

Operating cash flows before movement in working capital  106,891,407  108,133,653 

     

Decrease/ (increase) in inventories  2,768,832  (1,392,246) 

Increase in employee loans and advances  (717,843)  (3,637,365) 

Decrease in amounts due from Government 18 8,760,607  - 
Increase in other assets 17 (21,949,403)  (2,749,832) 

Increase/ (decrease) in trade and other payables  53,241,224  (24,927,652) 

Increase in employee related liabilities  (7,285,999)  (22,112,297)) 

Net cash generated from operating activities  141,708,825  53,314,261 

Cash flows from investing activities     
Interest received 11 4,831,636  3,900,261 

Acquisition of property, plant and equipment and intangibles 13, 14 (471,597,253)  (21,214,022) 

Proceeds from sale of equipment  -     646,352 

 
Net cash used in investing activities 

 
(466,765,617) 

 
(16,667,409) 

 
Cash flows from financing activities 
Climate change and NTA grants received  

 
 

5 7,469,021 

 

3,340,676 

Proceeds from borrowings  22 353,687,833  - 

      Net cash generated from financing activities  361,156,854  3,340,676 

 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 

 

36,100,062 

 

39,987,528 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year  90,258,038  50,738,618 

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held  (457,761)  (464,108) 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 19 125,900,339  90,258,038 
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Notes to the financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2013

1 Reporting entity

The Zambia Revenue Authority ("the Authority") was established by the Zambia Revenue Authority Act, Chapter 
321 of the Laws of Zambia (the "Act"), to carry out the affairs of the former Customs and Excise Department and the 
Department of Income Taxes. The Act, which came into effect on 1 April 1994, also transferred the assets and 
liabilities of those former departments to the Authority. 

The principal activities of the Authority are to:
§assess, charge, levy and collect all revenue due to the Government of the Republic of Zambia ("the 

Government") under such laws as the Minister of Finance may, by enacted legislation or statutory instrument, 
specify; and

§ensure that all revenue collected is, as soon as reasonably practicable, credited to the Government Treasury. 

The address of the Authority's registered office and principal place of business is:

Zambia Revenue Authority
Revenue House
Kabwe Roundabout
P. O. Box 35710
Lusaka

Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs), and the requirements of the Zambia Revenue Authority Act, Chapter 321 of the Laws of Zambia. They were 

rdauthorised for issue by the Governing Board on 3  June 2014.

Details of the Authority's accounting policies are included in note 32.

Basis of measurement

The ?nancial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the following material items in 
the statement of financial position:
·the liability for the defined benefit obligation is recognised as the present value of the defined obligation plus 

unrecognised actuarial gains, less unrecognised past service costs and unrecognised actuarial losses.
·buildings are carried at revalued amounts.

Functional and presentation currency

These ?nancial statements are presented in Zambian Kwacha (“Kwacha”), which is the Authority's functional 
currency. Unless otherwise indicated, the financial information presented has been rounded off to the nearest 
kwacha.

Use of judgements and estimates

In preparing these financial statements, management has made judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect 
the application of the Authority's accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 
expenses.  Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going basis.  Revisions to estimates are recognised 
prospectively.

(a) Judgements
Information about judgements made in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effects on 
the amounts recognised in the financial statements is included in the following notes:
§Note 13          - Valuatiom of buildings
§Note 26          -  Leases

 (b)     Assumptions and estimation uncertainties
Information about assumptions and estimation uncertainties that have a significant risk of resulting in a 
material adjustment in the year ending 31 December 2013 is included in the following notes:
§Note 13 - Estimate of asset lives, residual values and depreciation methods.
§Note 20 - Measurement of defined benefit obligations 
§Note 28 - Provisions and contingent liabilities.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
for the year ended 31 December  2013 

 
2 Government grants 

 

2013 
 

K  

2012 
 

K 

    

Annual budgetary allocation 423,989,624  386,509,400 

Supplementary funding 31,844,194  4,850,000 

 455,833,818  391,359,400 

 
3 Asycuda processing fees 

 

2013 
 

K  

2012 
 

K 

    

Asycuda processing fees 54,130,834  29,922,286 

4 Other income 

 
2013 

K  
2012 

K 
    

Cigarette stamps sales proceeds 2,822,140  2,602,996 

Sundry income 4,191,964  1,475,382 

Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipme nt -  121,830 

Rental income 1,725,847  1,273,468 

 8,739,951  5,473,676 

 
Rental income arises from the excess space that is let to third parties.  

Supplementary funding includes K17.1 million for the purchase of Mpendwa House in Ndola and 
K12.7 million (2012: K3.1 million) for Kasumbalesa border operations and K1.7 million for preparatory 
works in readiness for hosting of the UNWTO general assembly.

Asycuda processing fees are derived from the charge of K50.04 per transaction for the processing of 
imported goods at the borders. This income is partly used to maintain the scanners that process 
imported goods.  
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
for the year ended 31 December 2013 
 
5           Investment climate facility and NTA grants  
 

 
2013 

K  
2012 

K 
    

Investment Climate Facility funding  4,296,631  5,793,860 

 

At beginning of the year 700,594  3,153,778 

Receipts during the year 7,469,021  3,340,676 

Recognised in statement of comprehensive income (4,296,631)  (5,793,860) 

At end of the year 3,872,984  700,594 
 

1,730,988 
2,141,996 

 

329,324 
371,270 

Broken down as follows: 
 
Investment Climate Facility (ICF)  
Norwegian Tax Administration (NTA)   

 3,872,984  700,594 
 

 

6 Deferred income 

 
2013 

  
2012 

 

 K  K 

    

At beginning of the year 
Receipts 

9,640,849 
1,030,005  

11,420,698 
- 

Recognised in statement of comprehensive income 

10,670,854 
  (2,002,850)  

11,420,698 
(1,779,849)

At end of the year 8,668,004  9,640,849 

 

Current 2,002,850  1,779,849 

Non-current 6,665,154  7,861,000 

 8,668,004  9,640,849 

 
During the year K2,002,850 (2012: K1,779,849)  was amortised to the statement of 
comprehensive income. 

 

The Authority has an existing memorandum of understanding with the Royal Norwegian Government for 
strengthening Mining Tax Administration.  Another bilateral agreement exists between the authority and 
the Investment Climate Facility for Africa (ICF) to assist the former in implementing an integrated Tax 
Administration System for e-registration, e-filing and e-payment solutions.
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2013   2012 

 

K   K 

Basic pay 145,046,258   117,287,558 
Housing allowance 50,074,611   39,498,690 
Bonus 13,302,891   10,427,540 
Overtime 11,568,278   9,518,624 
Leave pay 31,092,467   22,973,829 
Other allowances  73,617,086   59,848,102 
Employee benefit expenses 53,451,225   16,831,186 
NAPSA 8,926,968   7,623,383 
Staff welfare and professional subscriptions 3,100,004   1,984,119 
Medical expenses 6,860,461   3,544,153 
Insurance 2,801,569   3,514,434 
Training 4,455,236   1,974,530 
 
 404,297,054   295,026,148 

 

Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
for the year ended 31 December 2013 
 
6 Deferred income (continued) 

 
7 Kariba dam toll fees  

 

2013 
 

K  

2012 
 

K 
    

Commission receivable 8,794  - 

 
8 Personnel expenses

 
 
 

In December 2007, the Authority received a capital grant from the Government of the Republic of 
Zambia for the procurement, installation and operation of specialist scanning equipment. The  
equipment is used for non-intrusive inspection of cargo and is currently installed at the Chirundu 
and Livingstone border posts. The equipment was purchased and brought into use in June 2008.

In January 2013, the Authority received grant assets from PEMFA, in the form of office 
equipment and furniture, amounting to K690,005; as well as part funding for a motor vehicle in 
the sum of K340,000.  These have been treated as deferred income.  The grant assets are being 
depreciated over their respective estimated useful lives of 5 and 4 years respectively, with the 
associated deferred income being amortised accordingly.    

In January 2013, the Authority signed a memorandum of understanding with Zambezi River 
Authority for collection of toll fees on the Kariba dam on its behalf.  The income of K8,794 
reported in the statement of comprehensive income represents 10% commission on the fees 
collected on behalf of Zambezi River Authority for the year to 31 December 2013. 
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
for the year ended 31 December 2013 
 
9 Administrative expenses 

 
2013   2012 

Repairs and maintenance - buildings 

K 
 

9,983,532 
 

K 
 

3,514,510 
Postage and telephones 2,008,073   1,871,264 
Printing and stationery 3,069,623   2,260,788 
Subscriptions and publications 1,104,094   2,579,263 
Travel expenses 6,363,921   4,259,576 
Electricity, water and rates  2,742,826   987,124 
Office rentals 375,139   973,088 
Insurance  599,573   92,543 
Corporate social responsibility 117,773   178,313 
Board expenses 1,509,534   1,223,627 
Bank charges 1,051,705 

 
523,100 

Audit expenses 836,665   579,590 
Advertising and public relations 3,397,838   3,897,677 
Staff uniforms 1,680,477   1,868,364 
Motor vehicle repairs 2,514,263   2,611,979 
Motor vehicle insurance and licence 1,319,822   1,274,374 
Fuel 2,998,969   3,333,186 

 
41,673,827   32,028,366 

10 Operating expenses 

  
  

 Asycuda processing fees 641,273   10,621,157 
Other professional fees 1,920,698 

 
314,789 

Scanner operations 2,597,533   545,121 
Field work - fuel 2,192,767   4,009,346 
Security 7,224,267   5,174,729 
Repairs and maintenance  - IT 20,390,593   10,745,624 
Cigarette stamps 1,323,447   1,697,316 
Travel/relocation 11,926,703   7,438,780 
Printing and stationery 1,505,217   997,830 
Legal and professional expenses 2,239,495 

 
2,229,550 

Advertising/promotional material, conferences and seminars 1,585,116   1,060,886 

 

53,547,109   44,835,128 

11 Net financing income 
    

Interest income 4,831,636  3,900,261 

 

Net exchange losses (457,761)  (464,108) 

Net financing income 4,373,875  3,436,153 

 
12 Taxation 

The Zambia Revenue Authority is a statutory body exempt from income tax, in accordance with the 
Second Schedule of the Income Tax Act - Chapter 323 of the Laws of Zambia, paragraph 5.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)  
for the year ended 31 December 2013 

 
13 Property, plant and equipment  

  

 
Land  

  

 
Buildings  

  

Plant and 
machinery  

  

Office 
equipment  

  

Motor  
vehicles  

 Furniture 

fixtures and 
fittings  

  
Capital 
work in 

progress  

 

Total

 K   K   K   K   K   K   K   K

Cost/valuation                
At 1 January 2012

 
-

  
108,972,828

  
27,338,295

  
24,989,971

  
20,694,719

  
5,485,530

  
-

  
187,481,343

Additions
 

-
  

-
  

-
  
4,589,689

  
11,849,728

  
819,911

  
3,954,694

  
21,214,022

Revaluation 
 

-
  

-
  

-
  

-
  
1,920,000

  
-

  
-

  
1,920,000

Disposals
 

-
  

-
  

-
  

(255,685)
  

(1,708,305)
  

(420,554)
  

-
  

(2,384,544)
At 31 December 2012

  -
 

  108,972,828
 

  27,338,295
 

  29,323,975
 

  32,756,142
 

  5,884,887
 

  3,954,694
 

 208,230,821

At 1
 
January 2013

 
-

  
108,972,828

  
27,338,295

  
29,323,975

  
32,756,142

  
5,884,887

  
3,954,694

  
208,230,821

Additions

 
140,000

  
17,100,000

  
603,649

  
22,148,663

  
2,564,566

  
1,816,611

  
371,944,466

  
416,317,955

Revaluation 

 

30,419,900

  

37,868,100

  

-

  

-

  

35,000

  

-

  

-

  

68,323,000
Transfers from CWIP

 -

  

11,533,082

  

193,702,315

  

-

  

-

  

-

  

(205,235,397)

 

-

Transfer from buildings

 

2,250,000

  

(2,250,000)

  

-

  

-

  

-

  

-

  

-

  

-

31 December 2013

 

32,809,90
0

  

173,224,010

  

221,644,259

  

51,472,638

  

35,355,708

  

7,701,498

  

170,663,763

  

692,871,776

                
Accumulated 
depreciation 

 
             At 1 January 2012

               

-

  

6,389,714

  

15,276,775

  

19,045,976

  

15,749,790

  

4,221,061

  

-

  

60,683,316
Charge for the year

               

-

  

2,179,457

  

2,009,544

  

2,488,046

  

3,696,764

  

567,954

  

-

  

10,941,765
Disposals

                  

-

  

-

  

-

        

(91,013)

   

(1,368,170)

   

(400,840)

  

-

   

(1,860,023)

At 31 December  2012

 

-

  

8,569,171

  

17,286,319

  

21,443,009

  

18,078,384

  

4,388,175

  

-

  

69,765,058

At 1 January 2013

 

-

  

8,569,171

  

17,286,319

  

21,443,009

  

18,078,384

  

4,388,175

  

-

  

69,765,058
Write back     

 

-

  

(16,878,449

  

-

  

-

  

-

  

-

  

-

  

(16,878,449)
Charge for the year

 

-

  

8,309,278

  

5,165,325

  

5,671,577

  

5,081,641

  

793,420

  

-

  

25,021,241

 

At 31 December 2013

 
 

                

-

  
 

         

-

  
 

22,451,644

  
 

27,114,586

  
 

23,160,025

  
 

5,181,595

  

-

  

77,907,850

              

Carrying amounts

              

At 31 December 2013

 

32,809,90
0

 

173,224,010

  

199,192,615

  

24,358,052

  

12,195,683

  

2,519,903

  

170,663,763

  

614,963,926

At 31 December 2012 - 100,403,657 10,051,975 7,880,965 14,677,758 1,496,712 3,954,694 138,465,763

As part of the valuation exercise for the year ended 31 December 2013, the Authority requested the valuers (Bitrust 
Real Estate Limited) to value the land separately from the buildings. As a result, the value for the land was estimated 
at K30,419,900 as at 31 December 2013. For the previous periods, the Authority did not have the information 
required to reliably estimate the value of land.

The Authority holds title to Revenue House and six other properties.  However, the Government holds title to the 
other properties transferred to the Authority in 1994, pursuant to section 4 (1) (b) of the Zambia Revenue Authority 
Act - Chapter 321 of the Laws of Zambia.

During the year under review, the Authority acquired Mpendwa House in Ndola at a total cost of K17.1 million through 
GRZ supplementary funding.  The fair value of buildings is determined from market-based evidence by appraisal 
that is undertaken by independent professional valuers. The last valuation was done in December 2008 by B.A. 
Property Consultants, registered valuation surveyors.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 December 2013

13 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

In January 2014, Bitrust Real Estate Limited was engaged to undertake another valuation of all the Authority's 
properties as at 31 December 2013.  The consultant's final report shows that the current market value of the 
Authority properties at 31 December 2013 was K206.033 million, resulting in a revaluation surplus of K68.288 
million. The said valuation report, which shows current market values, was prepared in accordance with the 
Practice Statements and Guidance Notes published by the International Valuation Standards Committee (IVSC) 
and conform to stipulations of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS). Measurements have been 
effected on the basis of the RICS Code of measuring practice, with areas having therefore been calculated in 
metric units as Gross External Areas (GEA) and Net Internal Area (NIA) where applicable. 

 Land and buildings Motor vehicles Total 
 K K K 

Carrying amount before revaluation  137,745,910 - 137,745,910 
Revaluation surplus  68,288,000 35,000 68,323,000 

Carrying amount at 31 December 2013 206,033,910 35,000 206,068,910 

 
The revaluation reserves are amortised annually over the estimated period in which the Authority will enjoy the 
benefit of the asset. This is done by transferring the excess depreciation from the revaluation reserve to the 
capital fund. 

Valuation technique and significant unobservable inputs used

The following table shows the valuation technique used in measuring the fair value of land and buildings, as well 
as the significant unobservable inputs used.

The following valuation approaches were used in arriving at the market values;

 

Sales comparison approach Assumptions used 

 
 

This provides an indication of value by comparing sales 
information of the subject asset with identical or similar 
assets for which sales data is available.

In this valuation, direct comparisons were made 
with other similar available transactions in the 
vicinity and considerations were made with 
reference to locations, accessibility, demand/ 
supply and the prevailing economic and 
property market trends. 

Sales were analysed and processed to form 
units of value per square metre allowing for 
similarities and dissimilarities of properties.
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
for the year ended 31 December 2013 
 
13 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

 
Valuation technique and significant unobservable inputs used  (continued) 
 
Sales comparison approach Assumptions used 

 
 

Cost approach (depreciated replacement cost)   

 

 

 

 

This provides an indication of value based on the 
estimated current costs to reproduce or create a 
property of equal quality, utility, and marketability. In this 
valuation the Depreciated Replacement Cost (DRC)” 
method of valuation is used for the valuation of 
specialised properties or those without comparable 
sales evidence such as the new ablution blocks at 
Victoria Falls and Kazungula Border posts

It is a method of using current net replacement costs to 
arrive at the value to the undertaking in occupation of the 
property as existing at the valuation date, where it is not 
practicable to ascertain comparable sales evidence. The 
formula below is used to estimate the replacement value:

Current day 
replacement 
value       

= 

Gross 
Current 
Cost of 
Asset 

x Balance 
useful life 

    Total useful 
life 

     

 

Significant unobservable inputs
 Gross external floor area
 Capital value rate per square meter
 Site extent square meters
 Value of land per square meter

The estimated fair value would increase 
(decrease) if:
Gross external floor area were higher 
(lower);
 Capital value rate per square meter (higher);
 Site extent square meters were
higher (lower); and
 Value of land per square meter were 
higher (lower).

Depreciation
The depreciation policy was based on 
straight-line depreciation on current 
replacement value of assets and 
reasonable asset life. Land and earthworks 
are non-wasting assets and therefore no 
depreciation was provided for these assets

Asset life 
Major factors in arriving at economic life of 
assets will be maintenance charges, 
finance charges, and intensity of use. 
Considering the long life of plant and 
machinery assets, the impact of 
obsolescence, changes in utilisation, 
intensity and difficulty in availability of 
reliable data, it is not practicable to 
determine asset life with high level of 
confidence based on above criterion alone. 
In this process, the actual asset 
replacement trends over a long time are 
studied to assess historically achieved 
actual life.  This process suitably accounts
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
for the year ended 31 December 2013 
 
13 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

 
Valuation technique and significant unobservable inputs used  (continued) 
 

Cost approach (depreciated replacement cost) 
(continued) 

 

Income or investment approach  

 
The Directors assess the fair values of buildings annually; however, it is the Authority's policy to revalue 
buildings every five years. In instances where the changes in fair values become significant, the building 
will be revalued in a period shorter than five years.

The Authority recognised land at cost on initial recognition and opted to adopt the cost model on 
subsequent measurement. Land is a separate asset class and the Authority has measured the value of 
land at its nominal value.

The income or investment approach is a variant of the 
Discounted Cash Flow (DCF) technique. It provides an 
indication of value by calculating the anticipated 
monetary benefits (such as a stream of income) for the 
subject asset.

In the ZRA valuation, the DCF-based Investment Method 
of Valuation variant known as the Rational Model (Phillip 
Marshall) and the Real Value Hybrid (Neil Crosby) found 
specific relevance where office units within the office 
suites or commercial units such as those spaces let to 
Banks. 

This method is designed to value investment properties

for obsolescence as also delayed retirement 
of assets due to resource constraints. The 
estimated gross rent is reduced to a net 
income after deducting expenses. The net 
income is then capitalised at an appropriate 
yield. 

Given that most ZRA properties over 90% 
are owner-occupied, rental figures were 
assigned to all lettable office suits on an 
assumption basis.

The full discounted cash flow (DCF) 
techniques could not be used as evidence of 
input rental or income projections are absent 
since most properties are largely owner 
occupied by ZRA.

Significant unobservable inputs
 Expected market rental
 Outgoings (20% – 25%)
 Years purchase (9.5% - 13%)

The estimated fair value would increase 
(decrease) if:
 expected market rental growth
were higher (lower);
 Outgoings were lower (higher);
 The years purchase rate were
higher (lower)
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Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
for the year ended 31 December 2013 
 
13 Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

 
If the property, plant and equipment were stated at historical cost basis, the cost, 
accumulated depreciation and carrying amount would have been as follows: 
 
 Buildings 

 
 Motor  

vehicles 
  

Total 

 K  K  K 

2012     

Cost 30,397,183  5,021,258  35,418,441 
Accumulated depreciation (5,471,493)  (5,021,258)  (10,492,751) 

Carrying amount 24,925,690  -  24,925,690 
 
2013 

     

Cost 202,104,910  5,021,258  207,126,168 
Accumulated depreciation -  (5,021,258)  (5,021,258) 

Carrying amount 202,104,910  -  202,104,910 
 
14 Intangible assets 

 Software  
 Capital works 

in progress 
 

Total 

 K  K  K 

At 1 January 2012 1,255,527  -  1,255,527 

      

At 31 December 2012 1,255,527  -  1,255,527 

 
At 1 January 2013  1,255,527 

  
- 

 
1,255,527 

Additions -  55,279,298  55,279,298 

Transfers 15,634,979  (15,634,979)  - 

      

At 31 December 2013  16,890,506  39,644,319  56,534,825 

      

Amortisation      

At 1 January 2012  334,807  -  334,807 

Charge for the year 251,105  -  251,105 

At 31 December 2012  585,912  -  585,912 

      

At 1 January 2013  585,912  -  585,912 

Charge for the year 511,688  -  511,688 

At 31 December 2013  1,097,600  -  1,097,600 

      

At 31 December 2013  15,792,906  39,644,319  55,437,225 

At 31 December 2012 669,615  -  669,615 
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14 Intangible assets (continued) 
 

 
15 Inventories 

 
2013 

  
2012 

 
 K  K 
Stationery  
Cigarette stamps 

798,866 
313,438  

561,807 
1,661,954 

Uniforms 163,203  1,811,081 
Other consumables 16,115  25,608 

 
 1,291,622  4,060,450 

 

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense during the ye ar was K6.0 
million (2012: K3.5 million). 
 

16 Employee loans and advances  

 
Employee loans and advances at the reporting date were as follows:  

 

 
2013 

  
2012 

 

 K  K 

Employee loans and advances  9,364,371  8,646,528 

    
Current  6,451,580  5,871,897 

Non - current  2,912,791  2,774,631 

 
Total employee loans and advances  9,364,371  8,646,528 

 
Employee loans and advances 

 

 

During the year, the Authority implemented an integrated Tax Administration System for e-registration, 
e-filing and e-payment solutions.  The additions during the year relate to TaxOnline and Asycuda World 
software which is being amortised over its estimated life of 10 years.

Total loans receivables (net of allowances) held by the Authority at 31 December 2013 amounted to K9.4 
million (2012: K8.6 million), comprising loans and advances to employees.  Loans and advances are 
considered to be non-derivative financial assets as they have fixed and determinable conditions attached 
to repayment and are not quoted in an active market.

The annual interest rate on employees' loans in accordance with conditions of service is 5% for all loans.  
For mortgage loans, the Authority holds on to the title deeds of employees' property as security until the 
loan is fully repaid.  
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16 Employee loans and advances (continued) 

 
The make-up of employee loans and advances at the reporting date was as follows:  

 

 
2013 

K  
2012 

K 
Home ownership loans  2,836,877  2,587,521 

Other loans 4,782,983  4,178,663 

Vehicle ownership loans 1,391,483  1,337,202 

Personal loans 353,028  543,142 

Gross advances 9,364,371  8,646,528 
Allowances for impairment -  - 

Loans and advances net of allowances for impairment 9,364,371  8,646,528 

 
Movement in the allowance for impairment:    

At beginning of the year -  (238,817) 

Impairment loss recognised -  - 

Bad debts written off -  238,817 

At year end -  - 

 
Aging of impaired loan receivables 

 
There were no employee loans and advances which were impaired or more than 
120 days in 2013 (2012: K239 million were impaired and more than 120 days).  

 
Impaired loans are loans which the Authority determines that it is probable that it 
will be unable to collect all pr incipal and interest due according to the contractual 
terms of the loan. 

 
17 Other assets 

 
2013 

  
2012 

 

 K  K 

Other receivables 24,686,076  6,253,214 

Prepayments 6,205,880  2,689,339 

Union Bank Zambia Limited (in Liquidation) -  15,976 

 30,891,956  8,958,529 
Impairment for Union Bank balances -  (15,976) 

 30,891,956  8,942,553 

 
18 Amounts receivable from the Government of the Republic of Zambia  

 
2013  2012 

 
K  K 

Balance at 1 January 8,760,607  8,760,607 

Payment received 
Amounts written-off 

(7,748,132) 
(1,012,475)  

- 
- 

Balance at 31 December -  8,760,607 
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18 Amount receivable from Government (continued) 

 
 
19 Cash and cash equivalents 

 K  K 

Zambia National Commercial Bank Plc 114,190,669  82,794,058 

Access Bank Zambia Limited 3,016  1,474,946 

Finance Bank Zambia Limited 9,518,993  6,273,696 

Bank of Zambia 2,133,035  - 

Investrust Bank Plc 
Cash on hand 

31,878 
22,748  

- 
329,162 

 125,900,339  90,871,862 
Bank overdraft:  Bank of Zambia -  (613,824) 

 125,900,339  90,258,038 

 

 
20 Employee benefits 

 2013  2012  

 K  K  

End of contract gratuity 19,098,000  39,747,808  
Leave pay (note 21) 20,757,081  16,913,277  
Retirement benefits 233,476,974  238,062,166  

 273,332,055  294,723,251  

  
Of which:     
Current  26,486,481  28,837,619  
Non-current 246,845,574  265,885,632  

 273,332,055  294,723,251  

     

    

 

Of the K8.8 million receivable from Government of the Republic of Zambia in 2012, K7.7 million was for 
2011 funding, while K1.0 million was provision for funds receivable from government for litigation and 
claims in 2011.  During the year ended 31 December 2013, K7.7 million relating to funding was received 
from Government and the K1.0 million receivable for claims was written-off against a provision made in 
2011.

The reported overdraft on Bank of Zambia in 2012 was a result of timing differences on transfer of funds 
within the Authority's cash books and no actual money was overdrawn from the bank's position. 

75



Notes to the financial statements (continued) 
for the year ended 31 December 2013 

 
20 Employee benefits (continued) 
 

Movement in the present value of the defined benefit obligations 
 

   End of contract   Retirement benefits   Total
     2013  

K  
 2012  

K  
 2013  

K  
 2012  

K  
 2013

K
2012

K

Defined benefit obligations at 1 January      39,748,000   28,899,645   238,061,974   133,166,220   277,809,974 162,065,865

Benefits paid by the plan      (3,567,000)   (15,537,993)   (4,749,000)   (6,574,302)   (8,316,000) (22,112,295)

Service costs      20,145,000   17,908,939   18,885,000   10,334,673   39,030,000 28,243,611

Interest cost      32,382,000   5,501,158   16,284,000   19,644,993   48,666,000 25,146,151

Actuarial (gains)/losses 
            

(69,610,000)
         

2,976,059
          

(35,005,000)
          

81,490,582
      

(104,615,000) 84,466,641
 

Defined benefit obligation at end of year
 

     
    

19,098,000
 

  
     

39,747,808
 

  
       

233,476,974
 

  
      

238,062,166
 

 
      

252,574,974 277,809,974

Expense recognised in surplus or deficit
             

   
End of contract

  
Retirement benefits

  
Total

     
2013

 

K
 

 
2012

 

K
 

 
2013

 

K
 

 
2012

 

K
 

 
2013

K
2012

K

Service costs
     

20,145,000
  

17,908,939
  

18,885,000
  

10,334,673
  

39,030,000 28,243,612

Interest in obligation 
     

32,382,000
  

5,501,158
  

16,284,000
  

19,644,993
  

48,666,000 25,146,151
       

52,527,000
     

23,410,097
     

35,169,000
    

29,979,666
    

87,696,000 53,389,763

Expense recognised in other comprehensive income
          

Actuarial (gain)/losses recognised
 

    
      

(69,610,000)
         

2,976,059
       

(35,005,000)
         

81,490,582
      

(104,615,000) 84,466,641

Actuarial assumptions
 

 

The following are the principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date (expressed as weighted averages):

 

 

         

2013

   

2012

Discount rate at 31 December

         

16.8%

   

16.6 %

Future salary increases

         

11%

   

14.1 %

The Authority engaged Alexander Forbes Financial Services Limited to conduct an actuarial valuation of employee 
benefit expense as at 31 December 2013 for purposes of disclosure in line with International Accounting Standard, 
IAS 19 Employee Benefits.
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21 Trade and other payables 

 2013  
 

2012 
 K  K 

Trade payables 11,411,856   6,339,773 

Leave pay (note 20) 20,757,081  16,913,277 

Accrued expenses 
TaxOnline and Asycuda World  

12,746,744 
39,644,319  

8,065,726 
- 

 
 84,560,000  31,318,776 

 
22 Borrowings 

 2013  
 

2012 
 K  K 

    

Loan from Ministry of Finance 353,687,833  - 

    

Of which:    

Current 3,500,000  - 

Non current 350,187,833  - 

 353,687,833  - 

In 2012, the Authority assumed a subsidiary loan which the Government of the Republic of Zambia 
secured from the People's Republic of China for procurement, installation and operation of 8 non-
intrusive scanning equipment from Exim bank.

The loan is for a duration of 13 years at a fixed interest rate of 2% per annum.  Under the terms of this 
loan, the Authority is to pay annual interest amounts in two instalments starting 2013, while principal 
repayments are to commence in 2015.
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23 Financial risk management

Overview 

The Authority has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments:

·credit risk

·liquidity risk

·currency risk

·Interest rate risk

Risk management framework

The Authority's Governing Board has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the 

Authority's risk management framework.

The Authority's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the 

Authority, to set appropriate risk limit and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits.

Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in the Authority, through its 

training and management standards and procedures, aims to develop a disciplined and constructive control 

environment in which all employees understand their roles and obligations.

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Authority if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails 

to meet its contractual obligations. Financial assets which are subject to credit risk, consists principally of 

employee loans and advances, other assets and cash and cash equivalents.

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. The maximum exposure to 

credit risk at the reporting date was:
   

 

   2013 

K

  2012 

K

     
Cash and cash equivalents  125,900,339  90,871,862 

Other receivables  24,686,076  6,253,214 

Employee loans and advances  9,364,370  8,646,528 

Total   159,950,785  105,771,604 

 

Collateral is held for employee loans and advances relating to home ownership and car loans.  At reporting 
date, there were no loans either past due date or impaired.
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23 Financial risk management (continued)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Authority will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its financial 
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.

The Authority monitors cash flow requirements on a daily basis.  Typically the Authority ensures that it has sufficient cash 
on demand to meet expected operational expenses for a period of 30 days, including the servicing of financial obligations. 
This excludes the potential impact of extreme circumstances that cannot reasonably be predicted, such as natural 
disasters. 

The Authority is able to maintain sufficient cash and cash equivalents not only to meet current financial obligations.  

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities including estimated interest payments:

 
Carrying 
amount  

Contractual 
cash flow  

Due within  
 3 months  

Due between  
 3 -  12 months  

Due between  

1 -  5 years  
Due after 5 

years  

31 December 2013        

Non-derivative liabilities        

Trade and other payables
 

84,559,996
 

84,559,996
 

44,916,015
 
39,643,981

 
-

 
-
 

Employee benefits 
 

Borrowings
 273,332,055

 

384,292,799
 273,332,055

 

384,292,799
 -

 

-
 20,757,081

 

3,500,000 
   167,087,303

 

171,800,000
 85,487,671

 

208,992,799
 

Total financial liabilities 
 

742,184,850
 

742,184,850
 

44,916,015
 

63,901,062
 
338,887,303

 
294,480,470

 

31 December 2012
       

Non-derivatives liabilities

       

Trade payables

 

31,318,776

 

31,318,776

 

31,318,776

 

-

 

-

 

-

 

Employee benefits

 
 

294,723,251

 
 

294,723,251

 
 

-

 
 

16,913,277

 
 
183,781,376

 
 

94,028,598

 
 

Total financial liabilities 

 

326,042,027

 

326,042,027

 

31,318,776

 

16,913,277

 

183,781,376

 

94,028,598

 

It is not expected that the cash flows included in the maturity analysis could occur significantly earlier, or at significantly 
different amounts.

Currency risk

The Authority is exposed to currency risk on funding cash balances, purchases and borrowings that are denominated in a 
currency other than the functional currency of the Authority.  The currencies in which these transactions primarily are 
denominated are ZAR and USD.

In respect of other monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, the Authority ensures that its net 
exposure is kept to an acceptable level.

The Authority does not use any hedging strategies. At reporting date, the Authority had no exposure to foreign currency 
risk.

The following significant exchange rates applied during the year:
   Average rate Reporting dates 

   2013 2012   2013  2012 

USD1.00 to ZMK   5.49 5.00 5.57 5.20 

GBP1.00 to ZMK   8.84 7.90 9.19 8.50 

CNY1.00to ZMK   0.89 0.84 0.95 0.85 
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23 Financial risk management (continued) 
 

 

 

 Weighted  Maturity of interest bearing liabilities 

 

 

2013 

average  

interest 

rate % 

 1 year or 

less 

K 

 2 to 5  

years  

K 

 Over 5 years 

 

K 

  

Total 

K 

Financial liabilities 

Ministry of Finance Loan for 
scanners 

 

 

2 

  

 

3,500,000 

  

 

171,800,000 

  

 

178,387,833 

 

353,687,833 

 

 Weighted  Maturity of interest bearing liabilities 

 

 

 

average  

interest 

rate % 

 1 year or 

less 

K 

 2 to 5  

years  

K 

 Over 5 years 

 

K 

  

Total  

K 

2012 

Financial liabilities 

Ministry of Finance Loan for 
scanners 

 

 

 

- 

  

 

 

- 

  

 

 

- 

  

 

 

- 

 

- 

 

Fair values versus carrying amounts 

 

   2013   2012 

 Carrying 
amount 

 

Fair value 

 Carrying amount  

Fair value 

 K K  K K 

 

Other receivables 

 

24,686,076 

 

24,686,076 

  

8,942,553 

 

8,942,553 

Employee benefits (252,574,974) (252,574,974)  (277,809,974) (277,809,974) 

Cash and cash equivalents 125,900,339 125,900,339  90,871,862 90,871,862 

Trade and other payables (84,560,000) (84,560,000)  (31,318,776) (31,318,776) 

Employee loans and 
advances 

 

9,364,371 

 

9,364,371 

  

8,646,417 

 

8,646,417 

Bank overdraft - -  (613,824) (613,824) 

 (177,184,188) (177,184,188)       (201,281,742) (201,281,742) 

 

 Except for the employee benefits and loans that are discounted, all the other balances are short term 
in nature and their carrying amounts approximate their fair values, due to the immaterial impact of 
discounting. 

Interest rate risk

The Authority is exposed to interest rate risk to the extent of the balance of its loans and borrowings.

The Authority manages the interest-rate risk on long-term borrowings by fixing the interest rate wherever 
possible.

The effective rates on financial instruments at 31 December 2013 are:

At 31 December 2013 the carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, other receivables and trade and 
other payables approximate their fair values due to their short-term maturities. The fair value of financial 
assets and liabilities approximates their carrying value as disclosed on the statement of financial position. 
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 24

 

Customs deposits bank accounts

 

  2013 

 K

 

 2012 

 K

 Customs deposits bank accounts
  

6,388,361
  

1,517,853
 

 The Customs deposits bank accounts relate to monies held on behalf of importers pending assessment s.  
The Customs and Excise Act, Chapter 322 of the Laws of Zambia requires that after 30 days any monies 
not refunded to importers be entreated to the Government.  The corresponding liability to refund 
importers is included as a payable.

 
 

25
 

Tax refunds bank accounts
 

  
2013 

 K 

 2012 

 K 

Value Added Tax (VAT) refund   29,459,496  26,082,671 

Customs refund   2,876,688  8,929,411 

Income tax refund   941,974  2,094,042 

  33,278,158  37,106,124 

 

The tax refunds bank accounts relate to monies from the Government  being amounts payable to tax 
payers on their claims for tax paid.  The corresponding liability to refund tax payers is shown as a payable.

 
 

 

26
 

Operating lease arrangements
 

 

Leases as lessor
 

 

Operating leases relate to buildings owned by the Authority with
 

lease durations of 1 year, renewable.  All 
operating lease contracts contain market review clauses in the event that the lessee exercises its option to 
renew.  The lessee does not have an option to purchase the properties at the expiry of the lease period.

 
  

The rental income earned by the Authority during the year from its buildings, which are leased out under 
operating leases amounted to K2.7 million (2012: K1.3 million).  

 
 

 

2013

  

2012

 

 

K

K

  

K

K

 

Less than one year 

 

2,704,375

  

1,300,000

 

Leases as lessee

 
 

The operating lease expense relates to rentals the Authority pays to owners of office spaces with similar 
terms as above. Since the landlords only transfer the right to use the property to the Authority and retain 
all risks of ownership, the lease expense is treated as an operating expense in the statement of 
comprehensive income and the said lease does not affect the statement of financial position.

 
 

The rental expense incurred by the Authority during the year on buildings, which are rented under 
operating

 

leases amounted to K650,000 (2012: K973,000).  

 
 

 

2013

 
  

2012

 
 

Less than one year 

 

652,993

  

973,000
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2013 

K  
2012 

K 

Salaries and allowances 12,119,482  10,268,107 
Post-employment benefits 588,089  2,633,801 
Sitting allowances 998,080  870,000 

 13,705,651  13,771,908 

 

 

 

27 Related parties

In the context of the Authority, related party transactions include any transactions made by any of the 
following:

§Members of the Governing Board and key management personnel.

The transactions to be reported are those that affect the Authority in making financial and operating decisions. 
Examples of such transactions include:

- loans to key management personnel;
- procurement and investment contracts; and 
- the disposal of assets.

§Grants received from the Government of the Republic of Zambia.

The Authority undertakes to disclose the nature of related party relationships, types of transactions necessary 
for the understanding of the annual financial statements.  

Transactions

The effect of related party transactions on the results for the year is as follows:

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of Commissioners, Directors and other members of key management is determined by the 
Governing Board having regard to Government funding received and market trends.

The remuneration of Commissioners, Directors and other members of key management during the year was 
as follows:

          Amounts receivable from the Government of the Republic of Zambia

The amounts received from the Government of the Republic of Zambia are disclosed at note 18.

Government grants from the Government of the Republic of Zambia

The amounts received from the Government of the Republic of Zambia are disclosed at note 2.

28 Contingent liabilities 

There were legal proceedings outstanding against the Authority, which were awaiting ruling/judgment by the 
courts of law as at 31 December 2013.  In the opinion of the Governing Board, these claims and lawsuits in 
aggregate will not have a significant adverse effect on the financial statements.  All tax related litigation claims will 
be funded by the Government if they materialise.
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29 Capital commitments 

 
2013 

K  
2012 

K 

Approved and contracted capital expenditure  78,320,100  14,462,683 

The approved and contracted capital expenditure will be met through Government funding.  
Normal capital expenditure is funded through the normal funding and only specific capital funding 
is deferred income. 

 
30 Subsequent events  

 

There were no material events subsequent to the reporting date that would require disclosure in, 
or adjustment of, these financial statements. 

 
31         Changes in accounting policies 

Except for the changes below, the Authority has consistently applied the accounting policies as 
set out in note 32 to all periods presented in these financial statements.  

The Authority has adopted the following new standards and amendments to standards, including 
any consequential amendments to other standards, with a date of initial application of 1 January 
2013. 

§ Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income (OCI) (Amendments to IAS 1). 

§ IAS 19 Employee Benefits (2011)  

The nature and the effects of the changes are explained below.  

(i) Presentation of items of OCI 
 

As a result of the amendments to IAS 1, the Authority has modified the presentation of items of 
OCI in its statement, to present items that would be reclassified to the statement of 
comprehensive income in the future separately from those that would never be. Comparative 
information has been re-presented on the same basis. 

 
(ii) Post employment defined benefit plan 
 

As a result of the amendments to IAS 1, the Authority now recognises all the actuarial losses and 
gains in other comprehensive income. Comparative information has been re-presented on the 
same basis. 

 

Due to the revision in IAS 19, all the actuarial gains and losses are now recognized in other 
comprehensive effective 1 January 2013.  As a result of this change the comparatives have also 
been represented as noted below. As a result the statement of comprehensive income has been 
restated as follows: 

 Salaries wages  Re-measurement 
losses 

 K  K 

Balances at 31 December 2012 as  
previously reported 

 
379,492,790 

  
- 

Total adjustment  (84,466,642)  (84,466,642) 

Restated balance at 31 December 2012 295,026,148  (84,466,642) 

 

This adjustment is a reclassification from the statem ent of comprehensive income to other 
comprehensive income and therefore does not impact the retained earnings.  
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32 Significant accounting policies

Except for the changes described in note 31, the accounting policies set below have been consistently applied 
by the Authority to all periods presented:

32.1 Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of the Authority at 
exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are retranslated to the 
functional currency at the exchange rate at that date.  The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the 
difference between amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the year, adjusted for effective 
interest and payments during the year, and the amortised cost in foreign currency translated at the exchange 
rate at the end of the year. 

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are 
retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rate at the date of the transaction. 

Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income.

32.2 Financial instruments

a) Non-derivative financial assets

The Authority classifies non-derivative financial assets into the following categories; loans and 
receivables and cash equivalents.

The Authority classifies non-derivative financial liabilities into the other financial liabilities 
category

Non-derivative financial asset and financial liabilities – recognition and derecognition

The Authority initially recognises loans and receivables on the date that they are originated.  All other financial 
assets (including assets designated as at fair value through profit or loss) are recognised initially on the 
trade date, which is the date that the Authority becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the 
instrument.

The Authority derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially 
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred.  Any interest in transferred 
financial assets that is created or retained by the Authority is recognised as a separate asset or liability.

The Authority derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled 
or expired

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position 
when, and only when, the Authority has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a 
net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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32 Significant accounting policies (continued)

32.2 Financial instruments (continued)

a) Non-derivative financial assets - measurement

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market.  Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction 
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the 
effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits with maturities of three months or 
less from the acquisition date that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, and are 
used by the Authority in the management of its short term commitments.

b) Non – derivative financial liabilities - measurement

The Authority initially recognises financial liabilities on the trade date at which the Authority becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  The Authority derecognises a financial liability when 
its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled or expire. The Authority classifies non-derivative 
financial liabilities into the other financial liabilities category. Such financial liabilities are recognised 
initially at fair value less any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequently to initial recognition, 
these financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Other financial liabilities comprise trade and other payables.

32.3        Property, plant and equipment

Recognition and measurement

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost or revaluation less accumulated depreciation 
and any accumulated impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-
constructed assets includes the cost of material and direct labour and any other costs directly attributable 
to bringing the assets to working condition for their intended use. 

When parts of an item of property, plant or equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as 
separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment.

Leasehold land, capital work in progress and plant and equipment are carried at cost, whilst buildings and 
motor vehicles are measured at revaluation less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses.

The fair value of buildings is determined from market based evidence by appraisal that is undertaken by 
professional qualified valuers.

The revaluation reserves are amortised annually over the estimated period in which the Authority will 
enjoy the benefit of the asset. This is done by transferring the annual amortisation from the revaluation 
reserve to the capital fund. 
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32 Significant accounting policies (continued)

32.4      Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Management assesses the fair values of buildings annually; however, it is the Authority's policy to revalue 
buildings every five years. In instances where the changes in fair values become significant, the building will 
be revalued in a period shorter than five years. 

Any gains and losses on disposal of an item of plant and equipment (difference between the net proceeds 
from disposal and the carrying amount of the item) are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

Subsequent costs 

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with 
the expenditure will flow to the Authority.  On-going repairs and maintenance is expensed as incurred.

Depreciation

Items of plant and equipment are depreciated from the date that they are available for use or, in respect of self-
constructed assets, from the date that the asset is completed and ready for use.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property, plant and equipment less their estimated 
residual values using the straight line basis over their estimated useful lives. Depreciation is generally 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, unless the amounts included in the carrying amount of 
another asset. 
Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives unless it is reasonably 
certain that the Authority will obtain ownership by the end of the lease term. Land is not depreciated.

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative years of significant items of property, plant and 
equipment are as follows:

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted 
if appropriate.

Expenditure on property, plant and equipment which is under construction is classified as Capital work-in-
progress.  Capital work in progress is not depreciated.

32.5 Leased assets

Assets held by the Authority which transfer to the Authority substantially all of the risks and rewards of 
ownership are classified as finance leases. On initial recognition, the leased asset is measured at an amount 
equal to the lower of its fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset. 

Assets held under other leases are classified as operating leases and are not recognised in the Authority's 
statement of financial position

Buildings  2% 

Office equipment, furniture, fixture and fittings  20% 

Motor vehicles 25% 

Scanners 10% 
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32 Significant accounting policies (continued)

32.5 Leased assets (continued)

Lease payments

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of 
the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised as an integral part of the total lease expense, over the 
term of the lease.

32.6 Intangible assets

Software

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment on 
the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and directly attributable costs. 

Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in the 
specific asset to which it relates.

Amortisation
Computer software costs are amortised through profit or loss on a straight line basis over the estimated useful 
lives of the software, from the date that it is available for use. The current estimated useful life of software is ten 
years. Costs associated with maintaining software are recognised as an expense as incurred. 

32.7 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted 
average method. Cost includes expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories and other costs incurred in 
bringing them to their existing location and condition. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling 
price for inventories less all estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

32.8 Impairment

Non – derivative financial assets 

A financial asset not classified as at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to 
determine whether there is any objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if objective 
evidence indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, and that the loss 
event had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably.

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired can include default or delinquency by a debtor, 
restructuring of an amount due to the Authority on terms that the Authority would not consider otherwise, 
indications that the debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy, the disappearance of an active market for a security.  

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

The Authority considers evidence of impairment for financial assets measured at amortised costs (loans and 
receivables) at both a specific assets and collective level. All individual significant assets are assessed for 
specific impairment. Those found not to be specifically impaired are then collectively assessed for any 
impairment by grouping together assets with similar risk characteristics.
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32.8 Impairment (continued

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortised cost is calculated as the difference 
between its carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original 
effective interest rate.  Losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income and reflected in an 
allowance account against receivables. Interest on an impaired asset continues to be recognised. 

When a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss 
is reversed through the statement of comprehensive income.

Non-financial assets

The carrying amount of the Authority's non-financial assets is reviewed at each reporting date to determine 
whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset's recoverable amount 
is estimated. 

For impairment testing, assets are grouped together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash 
inflows from continuing use that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or CGUs.

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell.  
Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows, discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessment of the time value of money and the risks specific to the 
asset or CGU.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or CGUs exceeds its recoverable amount. 

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.  They are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of 
any goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU on a 
pro rata basis.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been 
recognised.

32.9 Employee benefits

a) Defined benefit plan

The Authority operates a retirement benefit scheme which is of the nature of a defined benefit scheme. 
Under the defined benefit scheme, the employees are entitled to retirement payment based on the 
number of years worked and their terminal salaries at retirement.  The liability recognised in the 
statement of financial position in respect of the defined benefit plan is the present value of the defined 
benefit obligation at the reporting date, together with adjustments for unrecognised actuarial gains or 
losses and past service costs. The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent 
actuaries, using the projected unit credit method. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is 
determined by estimating the expected future cash flows using interest rates on Government bonds 
which are denominated in the currency in which the benefit will be paid, and have terms to maturity 
approximating to the terms of the related pension liability.

The Authority recognises all actuarial gains and losses arising from defined benefit plans in the 
statement of comprehensive income and all related expenses related to personnel expenses in the 
statement of comprehensive income.
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32.9 Employee benefits (continued)

Defined contribution plan

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed contributions 
into a separate entity and has no legal or constructive obligation to pay further amounts.

Obligations for contributions to National Pension Scheme Authority (NAPSA) are recognised as an expense in 
the statement of comprehensive income when they are due.

Zambia Revenue Authority contributes to the NAPSA where the Authority pays an amount equal to the 
employees' contributions. Employees contribute 5% of their gross earnings or a maximum of K669.65 
whichever is lower.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the 
related service is provided.

A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term cash bonus plans if the Authority 
has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the 
employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised as an expense when the Authority is demonstrably committed, without 
realistic possibility of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to terminate employment before the normal 
retirement date.  Termination benefits for voluntary redundancies are recognised if the Authority has made an 
offer encouraging voluntary redundancy, it is probable that the offer will be accepted, and the number of 
acceptances can be estimated reliably. If benefits are payable more than 12 months after the reporting date, 
they are discounted to their present value.

Gratuity benefit 

Employees on fixed term contracts are entitled to end of contract gratuity.  Provision is made for past service on 
the basis of past conditions of service and earnings.

32.10 Provisions

A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past event, the Authority has a present legal or constructive 
obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required 
to settle the obligation. Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. 
The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost.

32.11 Revenue 

Government revenue grants

Income represents the revenue grants receivable from the Government and other co-operating partners during 
the year and is accounted for on an accruals basis.  Government grants are recognised when there is 
reasonable assurance that they will be received and the Authority will comply with the conditions associated 
with the grant.

Grants that compensate the Authority for expenses incurred are recognised in surplus or deficit as other income 
on a systematic basis in the periods in which the expenses are recognised.
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32.11 Revenue (continued)

Capital grants

Capital grants are recognised initially as deferred income at fair value where there is reasonable assurance 
that they will be received and the Authority will comply with the conditions associated with the grant, and are 
then recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as other income on a systematic basis over the 
useful life of the asset.

Rental income

Rental income from properties is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on a straight line 
basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Sale of cigarette stamps

Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the 
customer, recovery of the consideration is probable, the associated costs and possible return of goods can be 
estimated reliably, there is no continuing management involvement with the goods, and the amount of 
revenue can be measured reliably.  Revenue is measured net of returns, trade discounts and volume rebates.

32.12 Finance income and finance costs

Finance income comprises interest income on bank deposits. Interest income is recognised as it accrues in 
the statement of comprehensive income, using the effective interest method.

Finance costs comprise interest expenses on borrowings.

Foreign currency gains and losses on financial assets and financial liabilities are reported on a net basis as 
either finance income or finance cost depending on whether foreign currency movements are in net gain or net 
loss position.

32.13 Fiduciary activities

The Authority acts in a fiduciary capacity that results in the holding of funds on behalf of the Government of the 
Republic of Zambia. These funds are treated as assets with corresponding liabilities on the statement of 
financial position.

32.14    New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for periods beginning 
after 1 January 2013, and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements. Those that June  be 
relevant to the Authority are set out below. The Authority does not plan to adopt these standards early.
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32.14  New standards and interpretations not yet adopted (continued) 

 
 

Effective date Standard, Amendment 
or Interpretation 

Summary of Requirements 

1 January 2014 IAS 32 Financial 
Instruments: 
Presentation: Offsetting 
Financial Assets and 
Financial Liabilities 
 

1 January 2014 Recoverable Amount 
Disclosures for Non-
Financial Assets 
(Amendments to IAS 36) 
 

1 January 2014 IFRIC 21 Levies 

 

The amendments clarify when an entity can offset financial 
assets and financial liabilities. This amendment will result in 
the Authority no longer offsetting two of its master netting 
arrangements. This amendment is effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014 with early 
adoption permitted.

The impact of the adoption of the standard on the financial 
statements for the Authority has not yet been quantified. 

The amendments reverse the unintended requirement in 
IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement to disclose the 
recoverable amount of every cash-generating unit to which 
significant goodwill or indefinite-lived intangible assets 
have been allocated. Under the amendments, the 
recoverable amount is required to be disclosed only when 
an impairment loss has been recognised or reversed. 

The amendments apply retrospectively for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2014 with early adoption 

permitted. 

The impact of the adoption of the standard on the financial 
statements for the Authority has not yet been quantified.

Levies have become more common in recent years, with 
governments in a number of jurisdictions introducing 
levies to raise additional income. Current practice on how 
to account for these levies is mixed. IFRIC 21 provides 
guidance on accounting for levies in accordance with IAS 
37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Assets. The 
Interpretation is effective for annual periods commencing 
on or after 1 January 2014 with retrospective application.

The impact of the adoption of the standard on the financial 
statements for the Authority has not yet been quantified.
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32.14  New standards and interpretations not yet adopted (continued) 

 
1 January 2018 
(IASB tentative 
date) 

IFRS 9 (2012): Financial 

Instruments 

 

IFRS 9 (2009) introduces new requirements for the 

classification and measurement of financial assets. 

Under IFRS 9 (2009), financial assets are classified and 

measured based on the business model in which they 

are held and the characteristics of their contractual cash 

flows. IFRS 9 (2010) introduces additions relating to 

financial liabilities. The IASB currently has an active 

project to make limited amendments to the classification 

and measurement requirements of IFRS 9 and add new 

requirements to address the impairment of financial 

assets and hedge accounting.

 

  

 

 

 
 

92






	Page 1
	Page 2
	Page 3
	Page 4
	Page 5
	Page 6
	Page 7
	Page 8
	Page 9
	Page 10
	Page 11
	Page 12
	Page 13
	Page 14
	Page 15
	Page 16
	Page 17
	Page 18
	Page 19
	Page 20
	Page 21
	Page 22
	Page 23
	Page 24
	Page 25
	Page 26
	Page 27
	Page 28
	Page 29
	Page 30
	Page 31
	Page 32
	Page 33
	Page 34
	Page 35
	Page 36
	Page 37
	Page 38
	Page 39
	Page 40
	Page 41
	Page 42
	Page 43
	Page 44
	Page 45
	Page 46
	Page 47
	Page 48
	Page 49
	Page 50
	Page 51
	Page 52
	Page 53
	Page 54
	Page 55
	Page 56
	Page 57
	Page 58
	Page 59
	Page 60
	Page 61
	Page 62
	Page 63
	Page 64
	Page 65
	Page 66
	Page 67
	Page 68
	Page 69
	Page 70
	Page 71
	Page 72
	Page 73
	Page 74
	Page 75
	Page 76
	Page 77
	Page 78
	Page 79
	Page 80
	Page 81
	Page 82
	Page 83
	Page 84
	Page 85
	Page 86
	Page 87
	Page 88
	Page 89
	Page 90
	Page 91
	Page 92
	Page 93
	Page 94
	Page 95
	Page 96
	Page 97
	Page 98
	Page 99
	Page 100

